E-ISSN e-ISSN 2667-8721 Volume: 2 Issue: 2 August 2020

# EURASIAN JOURNAL O CRITICAL CARE



1. Ventilatory Management Strategies For Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (Ards) Due To Covid-19 Disease

Turgut Teke, Taha Ulutan Kars, Korhan Kollu

- 2. An Insight Into The Neurological Manifestations of Covid-19 in the Emergency Department Sohil Pothiawala
- 3. Inflammatory Markers and Blood Gas Analysis in Determining the Severity of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

İbrahim Çaltekin, Emre Gökçen, Levent Albayrak, Dilek Atik, Atakan Savrun, Mikail Kuşdoğan, Hasan Burak Kaya, Sevilay Vural, Şeyda Tuba Savrun

4. Diagnosing Meningitis at the Emergency Department – How Accurate are we?

Jen Heng Pek, Dennis Clement Forsythe, Ling Tiah

5. Post partum mortality; WHY? Sheehan's Syndrome

Ahmet Burak Erdem, Hakan Uzunkaya, Muhittin Serkan Yılmaz, Bahattin IŞIK, Umut Çavuş

- 6. Pneumonia With Systemic Lupus Erythematous Fatma KOLBAŞ, Hatice Şeyma AKÇA, Abdullah ALGIN, Serdar ÖZDE-MİR, Serkan Emre EROĞLU
- 7. Migration Of Intrauterine Device and Acute Abdomen Abdullah Ercan, Abdullah Keyfo Kama
- 8. Young Patient Applying To Emergency Room With Complaint Of Syncope Sinan Cem Gül, Celal Bitiş, Başar Cander
- 9. Management of Sigmoid Volvulus Patient Diagnosed by Emergency Department

Sinan Cem Gül, Ahmet Erdur, Murat Yıldırım

10. A Rare Cause of Pediatric Acute Abdomen: Isolated Tubal Torsion

Mehmet H. Atalar, Neslihan Köse, Cengiz Güney, Levent Cankorkmaz



### Owner and Responsible Manager

Başar Cander Department of Emergency Medicine, School of Medicine, University of Health Sciences, Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

### **Editors in Chief**

Başar Cander Mehmet Gül

### **Editorial Board**

Mehmet Gül Ceren Sen Tanrikulu Ramazan Güven Şerife Özdinç Afşin Kayıpmaz Dilek Atik Togay Evrin Latif Duran Mustafa Ahmet Afacan Juliusz Jakubaszko Fatima Lateef Paul D. Kivela Abdelouahab Bellou Ahmad Al Hadun Khikmat Anvarov Wei Jie Ahmet Erdur

### **Printing and Graphics Department**



### NEF12 Ofis

Maltepe Mah. Çırpıcı Yolu B Çk. NEF12 B Blok Kat:14 Daire:148 Zeytinburnu / İstanbul / Türkiye Telefon: 0212 963 09 46

### Şişli Ofis

Merkez Mahallesi Hasat Sokak No: 52 Şişli / İstanbul / Türkiye Telefon: 0553 199 95 59 info@puntodizgi.com www.puntoajans.com

### Değerli Meslektaşlarımız

Tüm dünyanın özellikle de sağlık camiasının çok olağanüstü şartlardan geçtiği bir zaman dilimindeyiz. Adeta kartlar yeniden karılıyor. Bu olağanüstü koşullarda en çok yük alan ve sürekli ön cephede mücadale eden sağlık çalışanları olarak başkalarının temastan kaçtığı kişilerle yakın temas kurmak zorunda kaldık. Kimi hastalara santral kateter açtık, kimi hastaları mekanik ventilasyona bağladık,kimisini entube ettik kimine kalp masajı yaptuık hep yakın kalmak zorundaydık. Mümkün olduğunca korumalara rağmen maalesef ciddi sayıda kayıplarımız var. Bu dönem eğitim süreçlerini çok etkiledi, özellikle mezuniyet sonrası eğitimin ana unsurları olan kongreler ve sempozyumlar ertelendi, iptal edildi şimdilerde e kongre olarak varlığını sürdürmeye çalışıyor. Yayınlar da bu koşullardan etkilendi. Bu kadar yoğun çalışma temposu içinde ön cepheden acil servislerden yaptığımız çalışmalar aslında geleceğe not düşmektir. 2. yılımızda 5 Sayımızla karşınızdayız. Artık uluslar arası endekslerde taranan, yurt dışından da rağbet gören ileriye yönelik umutları yükselen dergimizi bu pandemi dönemimde dahi zamanında yayın hayatına kazandırmış olmaktan çok mutluyuz. Tıp kritik hastalarda başarılı olduğu kadar başarılıdır.

Saygılarımızla

Tüm editöriyal kurul adına editör; Prof. Dr. Başar Cander

### Dear Colleagues,

We are at a time when the whole world, especially the health community, is going through extraordinary conditions. It is as if the cards are shuffled again. In these extraordinary conditions, as healthcare workers who were the most burdensome and constantly fighting at the front, we had to establish close contact with those whom others avoided. We opened a central catheter for some patients, connected some patients to mechanical ventilation, we intubated some of them, and others performed heart massage, and we always had to stay close. Despite as many protections as possible, unfortunately we have a significant number of casualties. This period affected the educational processes a lot, especially the congresses and symposiums, which are the main elements of post-graduation education, were postponed, canceled, and now it is trying to survive as e-congress. Broadcasts were also affected by these conditions. The work we do from the frontline emergency services in such a busy schedule is actually a note for the future. We are with you in our 2nd year with our 5th issue. We are very happy to have brought our magazine, which is now scanned in international indexes and attracted abroad, with its prospective hopes, to its publishing life in time, even during this pandemic period. Medicine is as successful as it is in critically ill patients.

Regards

Editor on behalf of the entire editorial board; Prof. Dr. Başar Cander

# Contents

1.	Ventilatory Management Strategies for Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (Ards) Due to Covid-19 Disease <i>Turgut TEKE, Taha Ulutan KARS, Korhan KOLLU</i>	. 171
2.	An Insight Into the Neurological Manifestations of Covid-19 in the Emergency Department Sohil POTHIAWALA	. 183
3.	Inflammatory Markers and Blood Gas Analysis in Determining the Severity of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease	. 187
	İbrahim ÇALTEKİN, Emre GÖKÇEN, Levent ALBAYRAK, Dilek ATİK, Atakan SAVRUN, Mikail KUŞDOĞAN, Hasan Burak KAYA, Sevilay VURAL, Şeyda Tuba SAVRUN	
4.	Diagnosing Meningitis at the Emergency Department – How Accurate are we? Jen Heng PEK, Dennis Clement FORSYTHE, Ling TİAH	. 193
5.	Post partum mortality; WHY? Sheehan's Syndrome	. 199
	Ahmet Burak ERDEM, Hakan UZUNKAYA, Muhittin Serkan YILMAZ, Bahattin IŞIK, Umut ÇAVUŞ	
6.	Pneumonia With Systemic Lupus Erythematous Fatma KOLBAŞ, Hatice Şeyma AKÇA, Abdullah ALGIN, Serdar ÖZDEMİR, Serkan Emre EROĞLU	. 203
7.	Migration of Intrauterine Device and Acute Abdomen Abdullah ERCAN, Abdullah Keyfo KAMA	. 207
8.	Young Patient Applying To Emergency Room With Complaint Of Syncope Sinan Cem GÜL, Celal BİTİŞ, Başar CANDER	. 211
9.	Management of Sigmoid Volvulus Patient Diagnosed by Emergency Department Sinan Cem GÜL, Ahmet ERDUR, Murat YILDIRIM	. 215
10.	. A Rare Cause of Pediatric Acute Abdomen: Isolated Tubal Torsion Mehmet H. ATALAR, Neslihan KÖSE, Cengiz GÜNEY, Levent CANKORKMAZ	.219

### Review Article Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

# Ventilatory Management Strategies For Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (Ards) Due To Covid-19 Disease

### Turgut TEKE<sup>1</sup>, Taha Ulutan KARS<sup>2</sup>, Korhan KOLLU<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Professor, MD, Department of Chest Disease, Division of Intensive Care, Necmettin Erbakan University, Meram School of Medicine, Konya, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Consultant, MD, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Intensive Care, Necmettin Erbakan University, Meram School of Medicine, Konya, Turkey

### Abstract

Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) is a life-threatening diffuse inflammatory condition in the lungs and result in the oxygen treatment-refractory hypoxemic respiratory failure. ARDS is not a disease and is the result or complication of an underlying disease. COVID-19 pneumonia-related ARDS is a specific condition with unique phenotypes. Although patients had very severe hypoxemia in the early stages of respiratory distress due to COVID-19 disease, there was relatively well-preserved lung compliance. This phenotype is named as "atypical ARDS" or "ARDS type L". In advanced stage, some patients (20-30%) can return to a clinical picture more characteristic of typical ARDS progressively. This phenotype is called "typical ARDS" or "ARDS type H". Different types of ARDS that develop due to COVID-19 pneumonia require different ventilation strategies, depending on the underlying pathophysiology. In patients with early-stage atypical ARDS phenotype higher TVs and lower PEEP may be preferred, as opposed to the lung protective mechanical ventilator strategy. Nowadays, in the typical ARDS phenotype, the lung protective ventilation strategy used in classical ARDS is widely preferred. Refractory patients (a small number of patients) need to additional applications which are including prone ventilation and exorcoral membrane oxygenation (ECMO).

Keywords: COVID-19 disease, ARDS, Ventilatory management strategies, Prone ventilation, ECMO

### Introduction

Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) is a life-threatening acute diffuse inflammatory condition in the lungs. ARDS is result in the oxygen treatment-refractory hypoxemic respiratory failure<sup>1.</sup> ARDS is not a disease and is the result or complication of an underlying disease. In ARDS, hypoxemia occurs as a result of different mechanisms. Alveolar edema and collapse resulting from diffuse alveolar damage (DAD), which is considered the morphological hallmark of the lung in ARDS, decreases lung volumes and results in a decrease in compliance<sup>2</sup>. Disruptions in the resulting intrapulmonary shunt and ventilation/perfusion (VA/Q) ratio cause hypoxemia. In addition, surfactant deficiency, the loss of hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction and impaired regulation of pulmonary blood flow also contribute to the development of hypoxemia. DAD may be due to pulmonary or extra-pulmonary causes. Pulmonary ARDS is a direct insult to the lung affecting alveolar epithelium whilst extra-pulmonary ARDS is an indirect lung injury caused by inflammatory mediators acting on the vascular endothelium<sup>3</sup>. Pulmonary ARDS is noticeably more common than extra-pulmonary ARDS, and its most common cause is pneumonia (about 60% of cases)<sup>4</sup>. Extra-pulmonary ARDS is more common amongst postoperative and trauma patients.

In ARDS due to COVID-19 pneumonia, thrombosis and associated ischemic events are very common<sup>5,6</sup>. COVID-19

is a systemic disease that mainly causes damage to the vascular endothelium. The disproportionate endothelial injury plays a major role in the deterioration of pulmonary vasoregulation, the deterioration in the VA / Q ratio (possibly the primary cause of severe hypoxemia at the beginning) and thrombogenesis. COVID-19 has a highly activated coagulation cascade that goes through diffuse micro and macro thrombosis in the lung and other organs and very high D-dimer levels are associated with badly results. Most deaths from ARDS due to COVID-19 pneumonia have evidence of a thrombotic disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC)<sup>7</sup>.

The current definition of ARDS is the Berlin defination at the international American-European Consensus Conference in 2012 (Table 1). The Berlin definition, ARDS is classified according to the degree of hypoxemia. Treatments and ventilator management strategies have also been proposed according to the degree of hypoxemia. In the LUNG SAFE study performed using Berlin criteria in 2014 among 459 intensive care units (ICUs) in 50 countries patients with ARDS represented 10% of all ICU admissions and 23% of all intubated patients in ICU were due to ARDS<sup>4</sup>. Among them, 30% had mild, 47% had moderate and 23% had severe ARDS. It was also stated that 59% of these ARDS developed due to pneumonia, 14% to aspiration, 16% to sepsis and 7.5% to non-cardiogenic shock. ARDS develops in 42% of patients presenting with COVID-19 pneumonia and 61-81% of those who require hospitalization in the ICU<sup>8</sup>.

Timing	New or increased respiratory symptoms starting within a week
Chest Radiography	Bilateral diffuse infiltrations: completely effusion, atelectasis, no lobar collapse or nodule
Cause of Edema	Clinical findings should not be explained by the presence of heart failure or fluid load. If there is no risk factor, echocardiography should be performed to exclude hydrostatic edema.
Oxygenation	
Mild	When PEEP $\geq$ 5 cmH2O: 300 $\geq$ PaO2/FiO2 $>$ 200
Moderate	When PEEP $\geq$ 5 cmH2O: 200 $\geq$ PaO2/FiO2 $>$ 100
Severe	When PEEP $\geq$ 5 cmH2O: PaO2/FiO2 $\leq$ 100

Even though it can meet the Berlin criteria, COVID-19 pneumonia-related ARDS is a specific condition with unique phenotypes9. Although patients had very severe hypoxemia in the early stages of respiratory distress due to COVID-19 pneumonia, there was a relatively well-preserved lung compliance<sup>10,11</sup>. The median respiratory system compliance is usually around 50 ml/cmH<sub>2</sub>O. In the early stage, groundglass pattern on chest tomography (CT) suggesting interstitial involvement rather than alveolar edema and generally peripheral involvement are noteworthy. Many of these patients do not appear overtly dyspneic. This phenotype is named as "atypical ARDS" or "ARDS type L", which has low lung elastance (relatively high compliance) and high lung gas volume, thus low response to the application of extrinsic positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP)9,12,13. High PEEP administration does not improve oxygenation, as severe hypoxemia primarily results from deterioration in the VA/Q ratio rather than alveolar collapse. For many patients, the disease may stabilize at this stage without worsening or progressing. In advanced stage, some patients (20-30%) can return to a clinical picture more characteristic of typical ARDS progressively, depending on disease severity and host's response or suboptimal management. This phenotype is called "typical ARDS" or "ARDS type H". At this stage, there are widespread consolidations in chest CT, high lung elastance (low compliance), low lung gas volume and high response to to the application of extrinsic PEEP. However, it should be kept in mind that intermediate forms can be found in which the features of these two types with different pathophysiology may coincide<sup>9,12,13</sup>.

Regardless of the condition that causes ARDS, most severe ARDSs require invasive mechanical ventilation. Unlike spontaneous breathing, invasive mechanical ventilation delivers positive pressure throughout the breathing cycle. If the lung-protective mechanical ventilator strategy is not followed (eg. tidal volume (TV): >12ml/kg and PEEP: about 5cmH2O), invasive mechanical ventilation itself can worsen existing lung damage. It is known that ventilation with 6 ml/kg TV significantly reduces mortality (9%) compared to ventilation with 12 ml/kg TV<sup>1,14</sup>. Therefore, it should be aimed to prevent the occurrence of ventilator induced lung injury (VILI) in mechanical ventilation application. VILI consists of many different components such as volutrauma, barotrauma, atelectrauma and biotrauma. The most important is volutrauma. Atelectotrauma is caused by repeatedly opening and closing small airways and alveoli over the breathing cycles. Biotrauma is a general biological response that results in cytokine release due to the effect of stress and strain at the cellular level. The cellular toxicity of oxygen is another component of VILI<sup>14</sup>.

It is not clear whether different types of ARDS that develop due to COVID-19 pneumonia require different ventilation strategies. The key treatment strategy is to maintain oxygenation<sup>9,12,13</sup>. Different ventilation strategies are required, depending on the underlying pathophysiology (Table 2). In patients with early-stage atypical ARDS phenotype with good lung compliance, higher TVs (7-8 mL/ kg ideal body weight) and lower PEEP (8-10 cmH<sub>2</sub>O) may be preferred, as opposed to the lung protective mechanical ventilator strategy. Today, in the typical ARDS phenotype associated with COVID-19, the lung protective ventilation strategy used in classical ARDS is widely preferred<sup>9,15</sup>. In this section, ARDS, which develops due to COVID-19 pneumonia, will refer to lung protective low tidal volume ventilation (LTVV), which is the basic mechanical ventilation strategy.

### LOW TIDAL VOLUME VENTILATION (LTVV)

As with all ARDS patients, the recommended mechanical ventilation strategy in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia that develops ARDS and needs a ventilator is lung protective mechanical ventilation which low TV, optimal PEEP and plateau pressure (Pplat) are monitored tightly. The main purpose is to adjust the ventilator settings in a way that ensures sufficient gas exchange without causing VILI (by maintaining Pplat <30 cmH<sub>2</sub>O and driving pressure <14 cmH<sub>2</sub>O). The most common practice is to target at least 55 mmHg for partial arterial oxygen pressure (PaO<sub>2</sub>) and at least 88% for arterial oxygen saturation (SaO<sub>2</sub>). More conservative oxygenation strategies that target SpO<sub>2</sub> with pulse oximeter between 88-92% may also be possible in patients undergoing mechanical ventilation<sup>16</sup>.

Table 2. Ventilation Strategies in	ARDS Associated with COVID-19 Pneumonia <sup>9</sup>
------------------------------------	--

Time Period	Durnoso	Posniratory Sunnart Ontions
Before Intubation	<ul><li>Ensuring adequate gas exchange</li><li>To prevent P-SILI formation</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Oxygen therapy</li> <li>CPAP, NIMV, HFNC</li> <li>Keep in pron position</li> <li>Ensure inspiratory effort is not severe</li> </ul>
Mechanical Venti- lation	<ul><li>Preventing increased lung damage</li><li>Preventing VILI</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Minimize TV, breathing frequency and PEEP</li> <li>Make settings to ensure proper gas exchange</li> <li>Adjust the fluid balance</li> <li>Reduce tissue oxygen consumption</li> <li>Keep in mind the need for ECMO</li> </ul>
After Intubation	<ul><li>Minimizing pulmonary stress</li><li>Preventing VILI</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Atypical ARDS:</li> <li>Use lower PEEP (&lt;10 cmH<sub>2</sub>O)</li> <li>Use more liberal TV (7-9 ml/kg) when needed</li> <li>Reduce tissue oxygen consumption</li> <li>Keep in mind the prone positioning</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>To reduce and distribute pulmonary and vascular stresses equally</li> <li>Optimizing oxygen</li> <li>Preventing VILI</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Typical ARDS:</li> <li>Use higher PEEP (&lt;15 cmH<sub>2</sub>O)</li> <li>Use low TV (5-7 ml/kg)ü</li> <li>Reduce tissue oxygen consumption</li> <li>Prone positioning</li> </ul>
Weaning	• Preventing return to VILI or lung damage	<ul> <li>Make the transition carefully</li> <li>Avoid sudden changes</li> <li>Perform spontaneous breathing trial at the end of the weaning process</li> </ul>

ARDS: Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome, P-SILI: Patient Self-Induced Lung Injury, VILI: Ventilator-Induced Lung Injury, CPAP: Continious Positive Airway Pressure, NIMV: Non-Invasive Mechanical Ventilation, HFNC: High Flow Nasal Cannula, TV: Tidal Volume, PEEP: Positive End Expiratory Pressure, ECMO: Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation

In patients with ARDS with COVID-19 pneumonia, LTVV  $\leq 6$  mL/kg should be targeted according to the ideal body weight. Initially, tidal volume 6 mL/kg with volume limited assist control mode should be preferred and Pplat should be  $\leq 30$  cmH<sub>2</sub>O. PEEP adjustment should be made according to the inspired oxygen fraction (FiO<sub>2</sub>), keeping PaO<sub>2</sub> in the range of 55 to 80 mmHg or keeping SaO<sub>2</sub> in the range of 88% to 95% (Table 3). In situations such as severe hypercapnia or patient-ventilator dyssynchronies, there may be a need to change this ventilation strategy. LTVV reduces the development of VILI which can cause additional lung injury and mortality in patients with ARDS.

TV, Pplat and compliance values, which are standard variables in mechanical ventilator management, are used in patients with ARDS. Driving pressure is also used in the management of severe or refractory cases with a lung that has the flexibility to benefit from high PEEP values. Lung protective ventilation strategies are associated with limited driving pressure (driving pressure = Pplat measured with ventilator-applied PEEP or TV/respiratory system compliance).

### **Application and Adjustment**

When starting LTVV, typically volume or pressure limited assist control mode selection, TV and breathing frequency adjustments, and PEEP and FiO<sub>2</sub> levels are adjusted. World-wide volume-limited assist control ventilation is most commonly used mode of ventilation in ICU<sup>17</sup>. Pressure limited mode is also a viable option as long as a consistent and stable TV is provided in accordance with the LTVV strategy. There are no clinical data demonstrating a difference in outcomes between these two modes<sup>18</sup>. In most patients with ARDS, pressure limited mode provides good patient tolerance and stable airway pressure, while volume limited mode provides a stable TV. The main advantage of volume limited mode in

Table 3	FiO.	and PEEP	Combinations

FiO <sub>2</sub>	0,3	0,4	0,5	0,6	0,7	0,8	0,9	1,0
PEEP*	5	5-8	8-10	10	10-14	14	14-18	18-24

\* The initial PEEP value should be set at the lowest value shown in the table according to FiO2.

terms of respiratory mechanics is that it allows continuous monitoring of Pplat pressure. Regardless of whether volume limited or pressure limited ventilation mode is selected, fully supported control modes (eg. assist control) are preferred over partial assisted control modes (eg. synchronous intermittent mandatory ventilation [SIMV]).

The initial TV should be adjusted to 6 mL/kg based on predicted body weight and to meet the minute ventilation needs of the patient, provided that the initial respiratory rate is  $\leq$ 35 breaths/min (usually 14-25 breaths/min). The reason for setting the respiratory rate relatively high (by increasing the minute ventilation) is to prevent the occurrence of respiratory acidosis, which can be caused by low TV. However, there is some experimental evidence that mild respiratory acidosis can protect the lungs<sup>19</sup>. In the next 1 to 4 hours, the patient's clinical response, gas exchange, and Pplat can be used to adjust the TV and breathing rate as needed. TV adjustments should be made to ensure that lung-protective ventilation is properly applied and to evaluate the response in real time before taking arterial blood gases. Simultaneous adjustments are typically made to adapt the clinic, gas exchange and Pplat parameters. Pplat target should be  $\leq 30$ cmH<sub>2</sub>O and TV should be adjusted according to Pplat. If Pplat  $\leq$  30cmH<sub>2</sub>O and TV is 6 mL/kg according to ideal body weight, no further adjustment is required. If Pplat >30 cm-H<sub>2</sub>O, it can be planned to decrease up to 4 mL/kg with decreases of 1 mL/kg on TV. The breathing frequency should be increased to ensure proper minute ventilation at any decrease in TV. In cases where patient-ventilator dyssynchronies, Pplat <25 cmH<sub>2</sub>O and TV <6 mL/kg, Pplat should be increased between 25 and 30 mmH<sub>2</sub>O or TV to 6 mL/ kg in 1 mL/kg increments. If dyssynchronization is serious, the TV can be increased up to 8 mL/kg. TV and breathing frequency adjustment can also be made depending on gas exchange. LTVV can trigger respiratory acidosis. However, although there is no consensus on the upper or lower limit, the pH value should be kept above 7.2. TV can be increased when the pH reduces below  $7.15-7.20^{20}$ .

While adjusting PEEP, it should be aimed to provide the highest compliance and lowest alveolar dead space, thus increasing the gas volume of the lung. The purpose of PEEP in patients with ARDS is to maintain and maximize alveolar ventilation. Thus, oxygenation is improved and oxygen toxicity is prevented. However, the response to PEEP may differ according to the origin of ARDS (pulmonary vs. extra-pulmonary), the timing (early vs. late) and the localization of infiltrates (diffuse vs. lobar)<sup>21</sup>. Thus, a personalized approach is best, adjusting PEEP for each patient to optimize his/her alveolar recruitment. Indeed, whwn increasing PEEP reduces the driving pressure it indicates recruitment and is associated with improved survival<sup>16</sup>. Optimal PEEP was found to be between 11-16 cmH<sub>2</sub>O in moderate to severe ARDS<sup>22</sup>. In typical ARDS developing due to COVID-19 pneumonia, it may be beneficial to increase PEEP gradually up to 14-15 cmH<sub>2</sub>O pressure. However, at this stage, a decrease in mixed venous oxygen saturation (SvO<sub>2</sub>) is a sign that cardiac output is decreasing, indicating that higher PEEP levels will no longer be beneficial<sup>13</sup>.

### **Efficacy and Side Effects**

Many studies have shown that early administration of LTVV improves mortality and other clinical outcomes in patients with ARDS<sup>1,23</sup>. LTVV is generally well tolerated; however, there are potential side effects. Hypercapnic respiratory acidosis is an expected and generally well tolerated side effect of LTVV. LTVV can cause permissive hypercapnia as a ventilation strategy that allows alveolar hypoventilation to minimize complications from alveolar overstress and provide a low alveolar pressure. The degree of hypercapnia can be minimized by setting the highest respiratory rate that will not cause auto-PEEP. The LTVV strategy itself can also cause auto-PEEP. Increased breathing frequency to maintain minute ventilation during LTVV can create auto-PEEP by reducing the respiratory cycle time and therefore the time required for expiratory. When auto-PEEP is suspected, the clinician should estimate the contribution of auto-PEEP to all PEEP and manage the strategy accordingly.

LTVV may also cause an increase in the need for sedation and use of neuromuscular blocker agents and related side effects associated with sedation. When the TV falls below 7 mL/kg according to the ideal weight, the patient's effort to breathe increases and can create patient-ventilator dyssynchronies. With double triggering, higher TVs are created that can negatively affect the benefits of LTVV. If the patient's severe inspiratory effort is not brought under control, it may worsen the existing lung injury by raising the transpulmonary pressure, which is called the patient's self-induced lung injury (P-SILI)<sup>24</sup>. The use of sedation and neuromuscular blocking agent increases the patient's mechanical ventilation tolerance. It allows the respiratory muscles to rest, thereby reducing oxygen consumption by these muscles. As a result, oxygenation is improved, lung and systemic inflammation are reduced and survival is improved<sup>25</sup>. Although LTVV may require an increase in the need for sedation, the need for increased sedation is not continuous. Double examination is a form of dyssynchronization that can occur despite deep sedation. Double triggering can be corrected by providing a slightly higher TV (7-8 mL/kg, predicted body weight) or additional sedation as long as Pplat <30 cmH<sub>2</sub>O remains.

### **Patients with Recovery Findings**

The majority of patients with ARDS show improvement with LTVV. In these patients, FiO2 and PEEP should be

gradually decreased and partial assist or spontaneous modes should be attempted according to tolerance. Because the immobility of the diaphragm in controlled modes can quickly lead to marked muscle atrophy and reduced contraction force<sup>26</sup>. Airway pressure release ventilation (APRV) is a ventilation mode that combines invers ratio ventilation with pressure control ventilation that allows spontaneous breaths. Since the two valves of the ventilator are continuous, it is possible to maintain spontaneous breaths at any stage of the breathing cycle. Sustaining spontaneous breaths in APRV mode has been shown to improve respiratory functions and reduce time to stay in mechanical ventilation by reducing sedation requirements<sup>27</sup>. Pressure-support ventilation (PSV) is a spontaneous mode often used during the weaning period. The best time to switch from assist-controlled modes to PSV is unknown, but switching to PSV should be considered when most respiratory cycles are triggered by the patient and the underlying disease is under control. Another support mode for spontaneous breathing is a neurally adjusted ventilator-assisted (NAVA) mode that triggers assisted breaths through a diaphragmatic EMG inserted into a special naso-gastric catheter and reduces patient-ventilator dyssynchrony28.

Treatment for COVID-19 or secondary developing disease should be optimized, and sedation and vasopressor support should be reduced as much as possible. The time of weaning from the ventilator is completely patient-based; it does not seem possible to give an exact time. This period can extend from 24-48 hours to days or even weeks.

### **Patients Without Recovery Signs**

Patient-ventilator dyssynchrony, high alveolar pressure (Pplat  $\geq$ 30 cmH<sub>2</sub>O) hypoxemia progression ocur in patients with LTVV intolerance. It does not matter if intolerance or deterioration occurs immediately after ventilation or after a short recovery period. In both cases, the management strategy is similar. Unexpected airway pressure changes in patients with volume-limited ventilation or unexpected TV changes in patients with pressure-controlled ventilation require investigation of causes that may lead to acute changes in compliance (eg. pneumothorax, endotracheal tube obstruction).

### **Choosing an Option**

In case of failure of the LTVV response, the underlying causes should be determined and corrected. Supportive moves such as treatment of the current disease, management of fluid therapy, consideration of alternative diagnoses, and complications of ARDS or mechanical ventilation should be made. If dissynchronization is present, it should be corrected. It can also be planned to continue LTVV by making alternative adjustments such as switching to pressure-controlled or vice versa while volume-controlled or increasing the inspiratory-expiration rate. These regulations depend on factors such as the severity of ARDS, its complications, and the patient's comorbidity. All these options should be individualized for each patient. Switching from volume-limited to pressure-limited mode or increasing inspiratory flow rates is an appropriate approach in patients with air hunger. In patients with subsegmental atelectasis causing oxygenation disruption, it is beneficial to prolong the inspiration time by decreasing flow rates in volume-limited modes and increasing the inspiratory time in pressure-limited modes.

### **Supportive Measures**

Pulmonary edema may occur in patients with ARDS due to increased vascular permeability. This problem may require discontinuation or reduction of fluid therapy or diuresis. In cases where the fluid status is unclear, measurement techniques that reflect the fluid status may need to be used. There may be complications with conditions such as pneumothorax, ventilator-associated pneumonia, and pulmonary tromboembolism in ARDS. It is a useful approach to exclude these situations before terminating LTVV and before resorting to other ventilation strategies.

Patient-ventilator dyssynchronies occurs in about 25% of patients who undergo mechanical ventilation<sup>29,30</sup>. Patient-ventilator dyssynchrony may cause increased breathing effort, and in some cases, auto-PEEP and decreased gas exchange may lead to prolonged stay in mechanical ventilation, increased sedation / neuromuscular blockage requirement, and barotrauma<sup>29,30</sup>. Patient-related factors (eg. respiratory drive, timing, compliance, resistance to airflow) and ventilator-related factors (respiratory rate, inspiratory flow rate / shape, trigger sensitivity) are affect synchronization. Ineffective triggering or double triggering are the most common examples of dissynchronization<sup>29,31</sup>. It becomes evident in cases where minute ventilation requirement increases, such as metabolic acidosis or high dead space breathing in ARDS. The approach to patient-ventilator dyssynchrony is done by evaluating flow-time, pressure-time and pressure-volume curves. In the management of dyssynchronization, firstly, sedation should be increased as much as possible, and trigger changes and small changes should be made in the inspiratory flow. Double triggering is a second exhalation of the ventilator by the patient before completing the first exhalation. This causes the formation of harmful high TVs<sup>27</sup>. It is often caused by the adjustment of a tidal volume that is too low to meet the needs of the patient during LTVV or by keeping the inspiratory time short. In this case, the inspiratory time can be kept longer by selecting the decreasing flow form, reducing the flow rate or adding an inspiratory pause<sup>31</sup>. Ineffective triggering occurs when the patient's respiratory effort fails to trigger the ventilator. Ineffective triggering can also contribute to auto-PEEP formation. Ineffective triggering can be corrected by reducing the trigger sensitivity. Flow dissentronization is the failure of the ventilator flow to meet patient needs and can be corrected by increasing the flow or by changing the ventilator mode.

### Alternative Settings and Modes in LTVV

Alternative modes may sometimes be required for patients who are unable to tolerate volume-limited LTVV (eg. Pplat  $\leq$ 30 cmH<sub>2</sub>O failure, ventilator synchronization disorder). Pressure limited modes (pressure regulated-volume controlled ventilation and pressure support modes, APRV, volume targeted pressure controlled ventilation) or NAVA are alternative modes. Generally, it is preferred to apply alternative modes for a short time. Close monitoring of ventilator waveforms, airway pressures, tidal volumes, and gas exchange assessment is important in evaluating the response. If success can be achieved, it is an appropriate approach to continue with the same mode.

In some patients, increasing the inspiratory-expiration rate (I:E) by prolonging the inspiratory time may increase oxygenation by creating more time for gas exchange in the lung. When the inspiratory time exceeds the expiratory time, this is known as inverse rate ventilation (IRV). Despite the improvement in oxygenation, prolongation of inspiratory time or IRV has not been shown to clinically improve outcomes in ARDS<sup>32</sup>.

### **REFRACTORY PATIENTS**

A small number of patients with ARDS pose a special challenge due to the lack of adequate gas exchange without exposure to refractory hypoxemia ( $PaO_2/FiO_2 < 150$ ) and/or high alveolar pressure (Pplat >30 cmH<sub>2</sub>O) despite LTVV and other supportive measures specific to ARDS. These patients have a high risk of mortality.

Additional applications in these patients include prone ventilation, ventilator strategies that maximize alveolar flexibility (eg. high PEEP administration, open lung ventilation strategies, and recruitment maneuvers), pharmacotherapies (eg. neuromuscular blockers, pulmonary vasodilators) and exorcoral membrane oxygenation (ECMO). These applications do not have a clear advantage over each other; however, a meta-analysis showed that only prone position and ECMO were associated with a decrease in mortality rates<sup>33</sup>. In practice, the vast majority of clinicians prefer prone position application firstly, and ECMO is applied if there is no success.

### **Prone Ventilation**

The prone position is to place the patients face down and maintain mechanical ventilation treatment in this position for a long period of time. Indications of prone position are resistant hypoxemia despite positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) >10 cmH<sub>2</sub>O and FiO<sub>2</sub> >60% with protective MV application and/or difficulty to maintain MV (When VT 4-6 mL/kg is given according to ideal body weight, plateau pressure (Pplato) >30 cmH2O and pH <7.15 (respiratory acidosis)); and/or are moderate or severe ARDS patients with right ventricular dysfunction on echocardiography due to hypoxia and hypercapnia<sup>34</sup>. In severe ARDS, it is recommended to start the prone position in the early period (within 36 hours) following ventilation in the supine position for 12-24 hours<sup>35</sup>. Contraindications and complications of the prone position are shown in Table 4.

Due to prone position, the reduction of the pleural pressure gradient from the dependent lung areas to the non-dependent lung areas and the appropriate displacement of the lungs in the thoracic cavity are provided and as a result, the aeration and tension of the lungs becomes more homogeneous. In the light of all these factors, better oxygenation is achieved in ARDS cases due to prone position. Prone position may provide an increase in carbon dioxide clearance as a result of the regulation of oxygenation in ARDS along with opening of atelectatic alveoli and increased number of ventilated alveoli despite the minute ventilation does not increase<sup>34,36</sup>. Mechanism to improve oxygenation of the prone position:

- Opening of the atelectatic dorsal lung areas
- Improvement of ventilation perfusion rate
- Homogeneous distribution of lung elastance to all lung areas
- Increased chest wall elastance
- Decrease in the amount of alveolar shunt
- Functional residual capacity increase
- Mobilization of secretions

In addition, a homogeneous lung ventilation is provided and ventilator-associated lung damage is reduced as a result of ventilation of dependent lung areas, recruitment of alveoli and reduction of hyperinflation in non-dependent lung areas in ARDS cases due to prone position<sup>34,36</sup>.

Improvement of oxygenation with the prone position may also improve V/Q mismatch by reversing inadequate hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction. Finally, while the improvement of oxygenation prevents the progression of dyspnea, reconstruction of lung tissue with prone position

### Table 4. Prone position: Contraindications and Complications<sup>34</sup>

### Contraindications

- Shock (e.g. permanent mean arterial pressure <65 mmHg)
- Acute bleeding (e.g. hemorrhagic shock, massive hemoptysis)
- Multiple fractures or trauma (e.g. femur, pelvis, facial bone fractures)
- Spine instability
- Pregnancy
- Increased intracranial pressure> 30 mmHg or Cerebral perfusion pressure <60 mmHg</li>
- Tracheal surgery or sternotomy within 2 weeks

### Complications

- Nerve compression (e.g. Brachial plexus injury)
- Venous stasis (e.g. facial edema)
- Dislocation of the endotracheal tube
- Pressure sores
- Removal of vascular catheters or drainage tubes
- Retinal damage
- Vomiting
- Temporary arrhythmias

changes lung stress-strain relationship and intra-thoracic forces, slows the formation of lung edema and slows the progression of the disease from the L-phenotype to the H-phenotype<sup>13</sup>. It can be used to prevent the high rate of hospitalization of COVID-19 patients to ICUs and to improve the oxygenation and prevent their transfer to ICUs in awake patients<sup>37</sup>.

The optimal duration of the prone position is unknown. In a randomized study (PROSEVA) demonstrating the benefit of prone position on mortality in severe ARDS, the average time in the prone position was 17 hours per day with an average of four sessions per patient<sup>35</sup>. Usually, a response is noted in the first hour of the first attempt, but longer times (e.g. 12 to 18 hours) are required to provide a meaningful response.

If prone ventilation fails (e.g., if the patient has no change in gas exchange, or in case of deterioration in lung mechanics, gas exchange, or cardiovascular system), the patient should be turned into the supine position and alternative strategies (e.g. extracorporeal membran oxygenation) should be focused on to improve oxygenation.

### **Relative Contraindications**

- Current Deep Vein Thrombosis <2 days
- Chest tube with air leak
- Major abdominal surgery
- Clinical conditions that reduce life expectancy
- Severe burns
- Lung transplant recipient
- Having a pacemaker

## Extracorporeal membran oxygenation (ECMO)

ECMO is the life support system that directs the venous blood of the patient to the artificial gas exchanger (oxygenator), thereby ensuring oxygenation and removal of CO<sub>2</sub> and return of blood to the venous or arterial system of the patient again. Veno-arterial ECMO (VA ECMO) performs both heart and lung functions, while venous-venous ECMO (VV ECMO) performs lung functions only and can be used in respiratory failure<sup>38</sup>. The use of ECMO support has increased in recent years, the patient should have a specified indication and no contraindications to consider this treatment option. Patients who do not respond to optimum conventional MV may be candidates for ECMO in institutions with appropriate resources (equipment and staff). The ECMO mode used in COVID-19 patients is usually VV ECMO. In this section we will focus more on VV ECMO.

Indications for VV ECMO can be listed as follows<sup>38</sup>:

- For any reason (primary or secondary) in hypoxemic respiratory failure, ECMO should be considered when the mortality risk is 50% or more, and it should be started when the mortality risk is 80% or more.
  - Mortality risk  $\geq$  %50: When FiO<sub>2</sub>: 0.9, PaO<sub>2</sub>/FiO<sub>2</sub> <150 and/or Murray score = 2-3 or age adjusted oxy-

genation index (AOI) >60 or Plateau Pressure Score (APPS) = 5-7

- Mortality risk ≥ %80: If FiO<sub>2</sub>: 0.9, PaO<sub>2</sub>/FiO<sub>2</sub> <100 and/or Murray score = 3-4 or AOI >80 or APPS = 8-9 despite optimal treatment for at least 6 hours
- CO<sub>2</sub> retention despite high plateau pressures (>35 cm-H<sub>2</sub>O)
- 3. Serious air leak syndromes
- 4. A patient who is in the lung transplant list, requiring intubation
- 5. Sudden cardiac or respiratory collapse (e.g. pulmonary embolism)
- 6. Hypercapnic respiratory failure with arterial pH <7.20

There is no strict contraindication for ECMO support, as each patient should be evaluated individually for gain and loss. However, despite ECMO, there are situations that are associated with a poor result and can be considered as a relative contraindication<sup>38</sup>:

- 1. MV requirement for 7 days or more  $(FiO_2 > 0.9, p \text{ plateau} > 30 \text{ cmH}_2\text{O})$ . Many centers think that the duration of ventilation is not a contraindication.
- Major pharmacological immunosuppression (absolute neutrophil count < 400/mm<sup>3</sup>)
- 3. Recent or progressive central nervous system (CNS) bleeding
- 4. Irreversible major CNS damage or terminal malignancy
- 5. Although advanced age is not a contraindication; increasing risks with increasing age should not be ignored

# ECMO components (Cannulas, Pumps, Oxygenators)

*Cannulas:* Although the use of a negative pressure chamber is ideal for any invasive procedure in COVID-19 patients, this may not be possible most of the time. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and other organizations state that surgeons, anesthesiologists and other clinicians who participate in the cannulation and initiation of ECMO should wear ideal personal protective equipment (PPE). The main differences between the VA and VV ECMO circuits are the cannula types and the location of the vessels in which they are located. Drainage cannulas are larger in diameter (22-31 Fr), multi-holed and long; while it is sufficient to select the return cannula with a small diameter (15-22 Fr). By using two separate cannulas for VV ECMO, neck-femoral region or right-left femoral region can be selected, while right internal jugular vein cannulation with a double lumen cannula can also be performed. Recently, double lumen cannula is preferred. In this type of cannulation, drainage is provided from the superior and inferior vena cava, while the return is towards the tricuspid valve in the atrium. Therefore, this system appears to be more advantageous because it provides more oxygen to the pulmonary arteries, reduces

recirculation, requires only a single cannula to be inserted and facilitates rehabilitation and individual mobilization in patients requiring long-term ECMO<sup>39</sup>.

**Pumps:** For ECMO units, there are two types of pumps: roles and centrifugal. Today, centrifugal pumps for ECMO systems have almost become a standard. The smaller centrifugal pumps deliver blood from the center of the vortex to the periphery with a magnetically driven impeller rotating up to 10,000 rpm in a conical cavity. When using a centrifugal pump, venous blood is taken independently of gravity and the patient's height relative to the pump does not affect the rotation. The blood flow depends on the pump's rotation rate per minute (rpm), front and afterload. Since high pressure gradient is not possible in centrifugal pumps, they do not cause significant embolism or tube rupture. Excessive negative pressure at the pump inlet can cause cavitation and hemolysis, but the degree of hemolysis is much lower compared to roller pumps<sup>40</sup>.

Oxygenators (Membrane Lung, ML): The blood exiting the pump enters the oxygenator, the most important part of the ECMO system. ECMO oxygenators serve as artificial lungs to replace both oxygen (to blood) and carbon dioxide (from blood) instead of the patient's natural lungs. The basic principle in ECMO is the transport of oxygen from a semipermeable membrane to the blood. The membrane placed distal to the pump should have a high permeability for the passage of gases and have a resistant structure that prevents the passage of liquid from the blood to the gas phase. Membranes of different shapes consisting of hollow fiber tubes are used. As the sweep gas passes through the fiber cavity, effective gas exchange is achieved by passing from outside of fiber as opposite current to the blood. Modern membrane oxygenators are coated with "biocompatible-thrombus resistant polymers" that limit inflammation and thrombus formation. In the long-term use of membranes, when there is fluid accumulation in the fiber lumen and coagulation on the faces of the fibers in contact with blood; short-term sweep gas flow may need to be increased to ensure pore opening<sup>41</sup>.

### **Anticoagulation during ECMO**

Inflammation that develops as a result of blood contact with the non-biological ECMO circuit triggers coagulation. Immune-dysregulation, endothelial dysfunction and depletion of coagulation factors occur. Also, hypercoagulability is common in COVID-19 patients. Even though ECMO circuit and membranes are coated with heparin, systemic anticoagulation is required to prevent thromboembolic complications in ECMO treatment. One of the biggest problems during ECMO treatment is to reach and maintain therapeutic anticoagulation levels. Hemorrhagic and thromboembolic complications are major complications of ECMO therapy and are the most common causes of death. In ELSO study, it was reported that %20 of patients receiving ECMO support had thrombotic complications<sup>42</sup>. In thrombotic complications, the most common cause is the lack of proper anticoagulation. The optimum hemostatic values and anticoagulant drugs used during ECMO are shown in Table 5 and Table 6.

### Weaning from ECMO

Weaning from ECMO is a complex process, requires organized approach and a good ventilator management with comprehensive knowledge of ECMO physiology. Weaning is initiated when the underlying disease in the lungs is successfully treated and lung functions are recovered, improvements begin on the chest X-ray, FiO<sub>2</sub> < 0.45, PEEP < 10 cmH<sub>2</sub>O or peak inspiratory pressure (PIP) <27 cmH<sub>2</sub>O. If the ventilator settings still allow applying lung-protective ventilation strategies and CO<sub>2</sub> excretion is initiated by the natural lung then the ECMO blood flow is changed to adjust the pH value. According to blood gas controls, ECMO blood flow is gradually decreased to 1.5 L/min. The effectiveness of natural lung in removing CO2 is evaluated by taking blood gas before and after ML. When PCO, difference (pre and post ML) is less than 0.2-0.4 kPa (1.5-3.0 mmHg) the patient is considered as "balanced". This means that ML neither adds CO<sub>2</sub> to the patient's blood nor removes CO<sub>2</sub> from blood. CO<sub>2</sub> produced by the patient is completely cleared by the patient's own lungs. If arterial SaO2 is sufficient, weaning from ECMO may be considered. FiO, is set to 0.35-0.50, the sweep gas is turned off. If turning off process is well-tolerated, sweep gas can be kept turned off for hours or all night long. If the ECMO weaning attempt fails, the sweep gas is switched on and the next day a weaning attempt is planned again. If blood gas maintains stabile and patient develops no tachypnea or dyspnea, the decision to wean from ECMO can be made. In patients receiving VV ECMO for respiratory support, the duration of support usually does not exceed 10 days43.

Parameters	Recommended values
Activated clotting time (ACT) (seconds)	180-220
International normalized ratio (INR)	1.3-1.5
R time in thromboelastography (seconds)	16-25
Maximum clot frequency in FibTEM (mm)	>10
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	>100
Anti-thrombin activity (%)	70-80
Platelet count (mm3)	>80.000 (bleeding patient/high risk)
	>45.000 (no bleeding/low risk)
D-dimers (µg/L)	<300

ahlo	5 (	)ntimum	homeostatic	values in	FCMO	natients
able	J. (	punnum	nomeostatic	values III	ECIVIO	patients

Table 6. Anticoad	ulant agents	used in FCMO	treatment
	and a general	asca in Ecimo	ucuunchi

Drug	Advantages	Disadvantages
Unfractionated Heparin (UFH)	Its mechanism and the drug itself are well known. Easy to antagonize (Protamine). Easy to monitor (aPTT/ACT).	Its effect is variable, it is not linear. It may cause HIT.
Low Molecular Weight Heparin (LMWH)	Easy to administer. Low risk for HIT in- duction.	It can accumulate in renal failure. Partially antagonizable. Not easy to monitor (an- ti-Xa levels).
Direct Thrombin Inhibitor (DTI)	Independent of AT levels. Good dose re- sponse. Doesn't induce HIT.	Has no antagonist. Coagulation inhibition is less in stasis areas. May have a ceiling effect on aPTT. May interact with INR measurement.
Antiplatelet agents	Inhibits coagulation at the initiation point. May reduce platelet consumption	Anticoagulant effect is not enough. Not enough evidence.

ACT: Activated coagulation time, aPTT: Activated partial thromboplastin time, AT: Antithrombin, HIT: Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia, INR: International standardized ratio

### References

- 1. Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Network. Ventilation with lower tidal volumes as compared with traditional tidal volumes for acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 2000;342(18):1301-8.
- 2. Tomashefski JF Jr. Pulmonary pathology of acute respiratory distress syndrome. Clin Chest Med 2000;21(3):435-66.
- Pelosi P, D'Onofrio D, Chiumello D, Paolo S, Chiara G, Capelozzi VL, et al. Pulmonary and extrapulmonary acute respiratory distress syndrome are different. Eur Respir J 2003;Suppl42:48s-56s.
- Bellani G, Laffey JG, Pham T, Fan E, Brochard L, Esteban A, et al. Epidemiology, Patterns of Care, and Mortality for Patients With Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome in Intensive Care Units in 50 Countries. JAMA 2016;315(8):788-800.
- 5. Xu Z, Shi L, Wang Y. Pathological findings of COVID-19 associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Lancet Respir Med 2020; DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30076.
- Tian S, Xiong Y, Liu H, Niu L, Guo J, Liao M, et al. Pathological study of the 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) through post-mortem core biopsies. Mod Pathol. 2020 Jun;33(6):1007-17. doi:10.1038/s41379-020-0536-x.
- Wang J, Hajizadeh N, Moore EE, McIntyre RC, Moore PK, Veress LA, et al. Tissue Plasminogen Activator (tPA) Treatment for COVID-19 Associated Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS): A Case Series. J Thromb Haemost. 2020 Jul;18(7):1752-5. doi:10.1111/jth.14828.
- 8. Wu C, Chen X, Cai Y, Xia J, Zhou X, Xu S, et al. Risk Factors Associated With Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome and Death in Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA Intern Med. 2020 Mar 13;e200994. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.0994.
- **9.** Marini JJ, Gattinoni L. Management of COVID-19 Respiratory Distress. JAMA 2020 Apr 24. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.6825. Online ahead of print. PMID: 32329799.
- 10. Grasselli G, Zangrillo A, Zanella A, Antonelli M, Cabrini L, Castelli A, et al. COVID-19 Lombardy ICU Network. Baseline characteristics and outcomes of 1591 patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 admitted to ICUs of the Lombardy region, Italy. JAMA. 2020 Apr;323(16):1574-81. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.5394.
- **11.** Arentz M, YimE, Klaff L, Lokhandwala S, Riero F, Chong M, et al. Characteristics and outcomes of 21 critically ill patients with COVID-19 in Washington State. JAMA. 2020 Mar;323(16):1612-4. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.4326.
- 12. Gattinoni L, Chiumello D, Caironi P, Busana M, Romitti F, Brazzi L, et al. COVID-19 pneumonia: different respiratory treatments for different phenotypes? Intensive Care Med. 2020 Jun;46(6):1099-1102. doi:10.1007/s00134-020-06033-2.
- **13.** Gattinoni L, Chiumello D, Rossi S. COVID-19 Pneumonia: ARDS or Not? Crit Care. 2020;24(1):154. doi:10.1186/s13054-020-02880-z.
- 14. de Prost N, Ricard JD, Saumon G, Dreyfuss D. Ventilator-induced lung injury: historical perspectives and clinical implications. Ann Intensive Care 2011;1(1):28. doi:10.1186/2110-5820-1-28.

- **15.** Gattinoni L, Quintel M, Marini JJ. "Less is More" in mechanical ventilation. Intensive Care Med 2020;1-3.
- 16. Panwar R, Hardie M, Bellomo R, Barrot L, Eastwood GM, Young PJ, et al. Conservative versus Liberal Oxygenation Targets for Mechanically Ventilated Patients. A Pilot Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;193(1):43-51. doi:10.1164/rccm.201505-1019OC.
- Esteban A, Frutos-Vivar F, Muriel A, Ferguson ND, Peñuelas O, Abraira V, et al. Evolution of mortality over time in patients receiving mechanical ventilation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;188(2):220-30. doi:10.1164/rccm.201212-2169OC.
- Rittayamai N, Katsios CM, Beloncle F, Friedrich JO, Mancebo J, Brochard L. Pressure-Controlled vs Volume-Controlled Ventilation in Acute Respiratory Failure: A Physiology-Based Narrative and Systematic Review. Chest 2015;148(2):340-55. doi:10.1378/chest.14-3169.
- Laffey JG, Honan D, Hopkins N, Hyvelin JM, Boylan JF, Mc-Loughlin P. Hypercapnic acidosis attenuates endotoxin-induced acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2004;169(1):46-56. doi:10.1164/rccm.200205-394OC.
- **20.** Mercat A, Richard JC, Vielle B, Jaber S, Osman D, Diehl JL, et al. Expiratory Pressure (Express) Study Group. Positive end-expiratory pressure setting in adults with acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2008;299(6):646-55. doi:10.1001/jama.299.6.646.
- 21. Grasso S, Stripoli T, De Michele M, Bruno F, Moschetta M, Angelelli G, et al. ARDSnet ventilatory protocol and alveolar hyperinflation: role of positive end-expiratory pressure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007;176(8):761-7. doi:10.1164/ rccm.200702-193OC.
- 22. Chiumello D, Cressoni M, Carlesso E, Caspani ML, Marino A, Gallazzi E, et al. Bedside selection of positive end-expiratory pressure in mild, moderate, and severe acute respiratory distress syndrome. Crit Care Med. 2014;42(2):252-64. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182a6384f.
- **23.** Putensen C, Theuerkauf N, Zinserling J. Meta-analysis: ventilation strategies and outcomes of the acute respiratory distress syndrome and acute lung injury. Annal Intern Med. 2009;151(8): 566-76.
- **24.** Brochard L, Slutsky A, Pesenti A. Mechanical ventilation to minimize progression of lung injury in acute respiratory failure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;195(4):438-442. doi:10.1164/rccm.201605-1081CP.
- 25. Papazian L, Forel JM, Gacouin A, Penot-Ragon C, Perrin G, Loundou A, et al. Neuromuscular blockers in early acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(12):1107-16. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1005372.
- **26.** Jaber S, Petrof BJ, Jung B, Chanques G, Berthet JP, Rabuel C, et al. Rapidly progressive diaphragmatic weakness and injury during mechanical ventilation in humans. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183(3):364-71. doi:10.1164/rc-cm.201004-0670OC.
- **27.** Putensen C, Zech S, Wrigge H, Zinserling J, Stüber F, Von Spiegel T, et al. Long-term effects of spontaneous breathing

during ventilatory support in patients with acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;164(1):43-9. doi:10.1164/ ajrccm.164.1.2001078.

- **28.** Sinderby C, Navalesi P, Beck J, Skrobik Y, Comtois N, Friberg S, et al. Neural control of mechanical ventilation in respiratory failure. Nat Med. 1999;5(12):1433-6. doi:10.1038/71012.
- **29.** Tobin MJ, Jubran A, Laghi F. Patient–ventilator interaction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;163(5):1059-63.
- **30.** de Wit M, Pedram S, Best AM. Observational study of patient-ventilator asynchrony and relationship to sedation level. J Crit Care 2009;24(1):74-80.
- 31. Nin N, Muriel A, Peñuelas O, Brochard L, Lorente JA, Ferguson ND, et al. Severe hypercapnia and outcome of mechanically ventilated patients with moderate or severe acute respiratory distress syndrome. Intensive Care Med. 2017;43(2):200-8. doi:10.1007/s00134-016-4611-1.
- Marcy TW, Marini JJ. Inverse ratio ventilation in ARDS: rationale and implementation. Chest 1991;100(2):494-504.
- 33. Aoyama H, Uchida K, Aoyama K. Assessment of Therapeutic Interventions and Lung Protective Ventilation in Patients With Moderate to Severe Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open 2019;2(7):e198116. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.8116.
- **34.** Kallet RH. A comprehensive review of prone position in ARDS. Respir Care 2015;60(11): 1660-87.

- **35.** Guérin C, Reignier J, Richard JC, Beuret P, Gacouin A, Boulain T, et al. Prone positioning in severe acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(23):2159-68.
- 36. Guérin C. Prone position. Curr Opin Crit Care 2014;20:92-7.
- **37.** Telias I, Katira BH, Brochard L. Is the Prone Position Helpful During Spontaneous Breathing in Patients With COVID-19? JAMA. 2020 May 15. Online ahead of print.
- **38.** Brogan TV, Lequier L, Lorusso R, MacLaren G, Peek G. Extracorporeal life support: The ELSO Red Book. 5th ed. 2017.
- 39. Kulkarni T, Sharma NS, Diaz-Guzman E. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in adults: A practical guide for internists. Cleve Clin J Med. 2016; 83 (5): 373-384.
- 40. Lequier L, Horton SB, McMullan DM, Bartlett RH. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation circuitry. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2013;5(1):7-12.
- **41.** Bayar MK, Kosovalı DB. Ekstrakorporeal Membran Oksijenizasyonu. Güncel Göğüs Hastalıkları Serisi 2018:6(1):93-103.
- **42.** Thiagarajan RR, Barbaro RP, Rycus PT, McMullan DM, Conrad SA, Fortenberry JD, et al. Extracorporeal life support organization registry international report 2016. ASAIO J. 2017;63(1):60-7.
- **43.** Karagiannidis C, Brodie D, Strassmann S, Stoelben E, Philipp A, Bein T, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: evolving epidemiology and mortality. Intensive Care Med. 2016;42(5):889-96.

### Review Article Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

# An Insight Into The Neurological Manifestations Of Covid-19 In The Emergency Department

### Sohil POTHİAWALA

Senior Consultant, Department of Emergency Medicine, Woodlands Health Campus, Singapore

### Abstract

As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve, there is an increasing recognition that patients with COVID-19 infection may present with neurological symptoms as the primary manifestation. These symptoms can be related to Central Nervous System like headache, altered mental status, acute encephalitis, acute stroke, cerebral hemorrhage, seizures; or the peripheral nervous system like anosmia, hypogeusia, muscle pain and weakness, movement disorders, acute myelitis and Guillain–Barré syndrome, etc. In the absence of the classic presentation with fever or respiratory symptoms, an initial neurological presentation serves as a diagnostic dilemma. This review will aid acute care physicians to have a high index of clinical suspicion to consider COVID-19 infection as a differential diagnosis for any patient presenting with primary neurologic manifestations. This will help avoid delayed diagnosis, as well as reduce exposure to health care providers.

Keywords: COVID-19; SARS-CoV-2; neurological manifestations; emergency department

### Introduction

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has been declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization. Majority of COVID-19 cases present with an acute respiratory infection, the commonest symptoms being fever, sore throat, cough, shortness of breath, myalgia and pneumonia. Severe cases can progress to complications like acute respiratory distress syndrome and multiorgan failure. In addition to respiratory symptoms, some patients present with gastrointestinal symptoms like diarrhea, abdominal pain, nausea or neurological symptoms like headache, altered level of consciousness paresthesia, anosmia or hypoguesia. Patients with severe COVID-19 are more prone to suffer from neurological symptoms compared to those with mild or moderate disease.<sup>1</sup> As COVID-19 cases continue to rise, there is an increasing recognition of neurological signs as the only initial clinical manifestation of COVID-19 infection. This review on these neurological manifestations will aid acute care physicians to have a high index of clinical suspicion and also to adopt necessary precautions when managing these patients in the Emergency Department (ED).

### **Discussion**

SARS-CoV-2 primarily affects the respiratory system, but it is also known to invade the nervous system, similar to other

coronaviruses like SARS-CoV-1 and MERS-CoV. The exact mechanism of neurological involvement is not yet known, but studies have proposed hematogenous spread or spread through the retrograde axonal route. <sup>2, 3</sup> Infection of endothelial cells of the blood vessels, which also have ACE-2 receptors, allows the hematogenous spread of the virus, which then crosses the blood-brain barrier, leading to various neurological disorders. <sup>4</sup>

Another possible route of entry for the virus from the nose to the brain, especially in patients presenting with anosmia, hypoguesia, is through infection of the olfactory neurons via the cribriform plate.<sup>5</sup> Direct viral invasion of the brain cells leading to encephalitis is also proposed. Neurological manifestations may also occur in COVID-19 secondary to the inflammatory cytokine storm and suppressed immunologic response of infection; or due to hypoxia from severe respiratory involvement of the virus.<sup>6</sup> SARS-CoV-2 virus enters the cells of the nervous system and skeletal muscles by binding to the angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE-2) receptor on their surface, thus presenting with symptoms suggestive of acute myelitis and Guillain-Barre Syndrome.<sup>7</sup>

Neurological complications of COVID-19 may co-relate with the disease severity, but the primary goal in the ED is to identify those patients who present only with neurological symptoms as the primary manifestation of COVID-19. In the absence of fever and respiratory symptoms, this can be very challenging and serves as a diagnostic dilemma. Since these patients may be contagious even in the absence of any respiratory symptoms, such atypical presentations can lead to missed diagnosis. It can also increase the risk of exposure to other patients and healthcare workers caring for the patient. Hence measures should be taken to isolate these patients if there is any suspicion in the ED.

Certain vague neurological symptoms like headache, giddiness and altered level of consciousness may be due to underlying sepsis in COVID-19 patients. They may not represent a true neurological disorder. Some patients with COVID-19 show more specific neurological signs and symptoms. These can be divided into Central Nervous System (CNS) and peripheral nervous system (PNS) symptoms. The CNS symptoms include headache, altered mental status, acute encephalitis, acute stroke, cerebral hemorrhage and seizures. PNS manifestations include symptoms of peripheral nerve or skeletal muscle involvement, like anosmia, hypogeusia, muscle pain and weakness, movement disorders, acute myelitis and Guillain–Barré syndrome.

Headache can be a non-specific symptom of any viral illness, but it can also be a manifestation of viral encephalitis or meningitis. Similarly, the differential diagnosis of altered mental status in a COVID-19 patient includes viral encephalitis or meningitis, encephalopathy, seizures and ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke.<sup>6</sup>

Thus, any patient who presents to the ED with headache, which is out of proportion to the fever and is associated with altered mental status and/or vomiting, should warrant further evaluation for encephalitis. RNA of SARS-CoV-2 has been detected in the cerebrospinal fluid of a patient diagnosed with encephalitis.<sup>8</sup>

COVID-19 infection is increasingly recognized to be associated with hypercoagulable state, as noted by elevated D-dimer levels. This may lead to a resultant increase in thrombo-embolic events, especially acute ischemic stroke, pulmonary embolism and rarely cerebral venous sinus thrombosis. Although rare compared to ischemic stroke, infection of endothelial cells of the blood vessels by the virus may increase the intra-luminal pressure of cerebral blood vessels, which combined with coagulopathy in COVID-19 patients, can lead to intracerebral hemorrhage.<sup>4</sup> The occurrence of seizure in a COVID-19 patient can be due to of invasion of the virus in CNS leading to a primary brain infection, or it may be secondary to reduced seizure threshold in a known epileptic patient. Electrolyte disturbances as well as neuronal injury due to hypoxia in severe pneumonia, sepsis or multiorgan failure may also precipitate seizures.<sup>6</sup>

A patient presenting with anosmia, dysgeusia or neuralgia should alert the physician regarding COVID-19 related involvement of the peripheral nerve involvement.<sup>9</sup> Involvement of skeletal muscle in COVID-19 may be due to invasion of the skeletal muscles by the virus through ACE-2 receptors, causing damage to the skeletal muscle fibers, as noted by elevated creatinine kinase and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) levels<sup>1</sup>, and theese patients may present with complaints of myalgia and weakness. A robust immune response and associated cytokine storm, often seen in patients with severe COVID-19, may even lead to renal failure and rhabdomyolysis.<sup>10</sup>

Guillain–Barré syndrome (GBS) is an immune-mediated disorder of the peripheral nerves and nerve roots. There are few case reports of GBS associated with COVID-19, but further studies are needed to determine if SARS-CoV-2 causes production of antibodies against the ganglioside.<sup>11</sup> Moreover, GBS due to Covid-19 should be distinguished from neuro-myopathy that occurs late in the course of severe disease states.<sup>12</sup>

Hence, during this evolving pandemic, emergency and acute care physicians should consider COVID-19 as a differential diagnosis in any patient presenting to the ED with central or peripheral neurological symptoms.<sup>1</sup> A detailed neurological examination followed by appropriate investigations, and early consult with a neurologist can help differentiate between primary or secondary involvement of the CNS/PNS in COVID-19 patients.

### Conclusion

The COVID-19 pandemic presents emergency physicians with a unique challenge of patients presenting with neurological symptoms as the primary manifestation of COVID-19. These neurological symptoms may even precede classical presentation of typical respiratory symptoms. Thus, emergency physicians should consider COVID-19 infection as a differential diagnosis for any patient presenting to the ED with primary neurologic manifestations. This will help avoid delayed diagnosis, as well as reduce exposure to health care providers by adopting necessary precautions when managing these patients.

### References

- Mao L, Jin H, Wang M, Hu Y, Chen S, He Q, et al. Neurological manifestations of hospitalized patients with coronavirus disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Neurol 2020; 77(6):683-690. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1127
- Desforges M, LeCoupanec A, Dubeau P, Bourgouin A, Lajoie L, Dube M, et al. Human coronaviruses and other respiratory viruses: underestimated opportunistic pathogens of the central nervous system? Viruses 2019, 12(1):14. doi:10.3390/ v12010014
- Bohmwald K, Galvez NMS, Ríos M, et al. Neurologic alterations due to respiratory virus infections. Front. Cell. Neurosci 2018; 12:386. Doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018.00386
- Wu Y, Xu X, Chen Z, Duan J, Hashimoto K, Yang L, et al.: Nervous system involvement after infection with COVID-19 and other coronaviruses. Brain Behav Immun 2020, 87:18-22. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.031.

- 5. Mori I: Transolfactory neuroinvasion by viruses threatens the human brain. Acta Virol. 2015, 59(4):338-49. Doi:10.4149/ av\_2015\_04\_338
- Lahiri D, Ardila A. COVID-19 Pandemic: A Neurological Perspective. Cureus 2020; 12(4):e7889. doi:10.7759/cureus.7889
- Baig AM, Khaleeq A, Ali U, et al. Evidence of the COVID-19 virus targeting the CNS: tissue distribution, host-virus interaction, and proposed neurotropic mechanisms. ACS Chem Neurosci. 2020; 11(7):995-998. doi: 10.1021/acschemneuro.0c00122
- Xiang P, Xu XM, Gao LL, Wang HZ, Xiong HF, Li RH, et al. First case of 2019 novel coronavirus disease with encephalitis. China Xiv 2020; T202003:00015

- Baig AM. Neurological manifestations in COVID-19 caused by SARS-CoV-2. CNS Neurosci Ther 2020; 26(5):499-501. doi: 10.1111/cns.13372
- Suwanwongse K, Shabarek N. Rhabdomyolysis as a Presentation of 2019 Novel Coronavirus Disease. Cureus 2020; 12(4):e7561. doi:10.7759/cureus.7561
- 11. Zhao H, Shen D, Zhou H, et al. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection: causality or coincidence? Lancet Neurol 2020; 19(5):383-384
- 12. Toscano G, Palmerini F, Ravaglia S, et al. Guillain–Barré Syndrome Associated with SARS-CoV-2. NEJM 2020. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2009191.

### Original Article Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

# Inflammatory Markers And Blood Gas Analysis In Determining The Severity Of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

İbrahim Çaltekin<sup>1</sup>, Emre Gökçen<sup>1</sup>, Levent Albayrak<sup>1</sup>, Dilek Atik<sup>1</sup>, Atakan Savrun<sup>2</sup>, Mikail Kuşdoğan<sup>1</sup>, Hasan Burak Kaya<sup>1</sup>, Sevilay Vural<sup>1</sup>, Şeyda Tuba Savrun<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Emergency Medicine, Yozgat Bozok University Faculty of Medicine, Yozgat-Turkey <sup>2</sup> Department of Emergency Medicine, Ordu University Faculty of Medicine, Ordu-Turkey

### Abstract

Aim: This study aimed to evaluate the severity of the disease using inflammatory markers in patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) who admitted to the emergency department.

Materials and Methods: 193 COPD patients who applied to the emergency department were included in this retrospective study. Patients were divided into two groups according to the severity of COPD. The presence of type 1 and type 2 respiratory failure was used to create Group 2 (severe, very severe, life-threatening) and in the absence, Group 1 (mild, moderate). Inflammatory markers such as Neutrophil / lymphocyte ratio (NLR), Platelet / lymphocyte ratio (PLR), Lymphocyte / monocyte ratio (LMR) and disease severity were evaluated for both groups.

**Results:** The high COPD severity group (Group 2) had higher NLR and PLR values (p <0.001, p <0.001, respectively), and LMR values were lower (p <0.001). There was infection in 46.2% of Group 2, while this rate was 13.5% in Group 1 (p <0.001).

**Conclusion:** As the severity of the disease increases, NLR, PLR values increase, and LMR value decreases. This indicates that COPD attack will be severe in the presence of infection in COPD patients.

Keywords: Blood gas analysis; emergency medicine; inflammatory markers; chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)

### Introduction

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) is defined as a permanent restriction of airflow and respiration in the airways and alveoli as a result of exposure to harmful particles and gases<sup>1</sup>. COPD is one of the leading diseases that cause serious morbidity and mortality in the world<sup>2</sup>. Along with increased admissions of COPD patients at the emergency department day by day<sup>3</sup>, dyspnea, decrease in exercise capacity, sputum increase are the most common admission symptoms<sup>4</sup>.

In addition, it is a progressive disease resulting from chronic irreversible peripheral alveolar and lung parenchyma caused by increased numbers of cells involved in the inflammatory response such as alveolar macrophage, neutrophil, T lymphocyte and release of proinflammatory cytokines<sup>5</sup>. Changes in hematological inflammatory markers of acute exacerbation COPD (AECOPD) cases have been shown to develop<sup>6</sup>.

Neutrophil / lymphocyte ratio (NLR) was associated with lung functions, COPD acute attack and poor outcome<sup>7</sup>, while Platelet / lymphocyte ratio (PLR) was found to be determinant for COPD acute exacerbation. Lymphocyte / monocyte ratio (LMR), on the other hand, is a new hematological inflammatory marker that has recently been detected in patients with pulmonary embolism, lung cancer, and coronary artery disease<sup>8-10</sup>. In addition, blood gas analysis is a valuable test used to evaluate COPD attack severity<sup>11</sup>. However, complete blood count (CBC) is an easily accessible, cheaper, and more widely used test<sup>12</sup>.

Inflammatory processes in COPD are associated with severity of COPD attack. Also, the CBC test, which can be used just like blood gas in COPD attack but is more practical, provides a separate benefit in predicting the severity of COPD. In this study, it was aimed to evaluate the severity of disease using both known inflammatory markers such as NLR and PLR and new inflammatory markers such as LMR in COPD patients admitted to the emergency department.

### **Material and Methods**

This retrospective study included 193 COPD patients over the age of 18 who applied to the emergency department between September 1, 2018 and August 31, 2019. Ethical approval was obtained from the local ethics committee of the University (Protocol: 2017-KAEK-189\_2019.10.30\_17). The authors adhered to the principles of the Helsinki Declaration during the study.

Records of the patients (age, gender, clinical status, clinical course, blood samples, files and electronic records) who admitted to the emergency department and followed up with COPD according to ICD-10 codes (J44.0, J44.1, J44.8, J44.9) were evaluated. All data were used in analyzing of inflammatory hematological parameters (neutrophil/lymphocyte, platelet/ lymphocyte, lymphocyte/monocyte ratio), C-reactive protein (CRP), attack severity and arterial blood gas values, if any.

COPD severity assessment even if there is no blood gas analysis in mild attack cases was evaluated as recommended by Burge et al.<sup>13</sup>. The patients were divided into two groups according to the severity of COPD. The presence of type 1 and type 2 respiratory failure was used to create Group 2 (severe, very severe, life-threatening) and in the absence, Group 1 (mild, moderate). For both groups, blood gas analysis, inflammatory markers and disease severity were evaluated according to the determined criteria. Furthermore, with or without any chest CT or Xray findings, with an increase in purulence of sputum, fever, increased white blood cell counts, with bacterial growth in sputum, secretions or BAL sample were taken, were accepted as the presence of infection.

Patients under 18 years of age who had congestive heart failure, chronic liver disease, diabetes mellitus, metabolic syndrome, deep vein thrombosis, rheumatic disease, inflammatory disease that may affect hematological inflammatory parameters were excluded from our study. In addition, patients who had deficiencies in electronic file records, detected laboratory errors, and inaccessible blood samples were not included in the study. However, patients who did not have blood gas parameters and who met the inclusion criteria were classified in group 1, but these 22 patients were not included in the analyzes performed according to blood gas.

### **Evaluation tools**

### Acute Exacerbation of COPD

Worsening of the patients' condition beyond normal day-today activity that required additional treatment with oral or intravenous corticosteroids or antibiotics; admission to an emergency for worsening of symptoms; a hospital admission with a new diagnosis of COPD.

### **Severity of COPD**

In 2003, Burge et al. suggested that the severity of the disease can be assessed in 5 categories, regardless of whether patients with COPD had gas in the blood<sup>13</sup>.

Mild: An exacerbation with antibiotics in the treatment but without systemic corticosteroids (assuming no respiratory failure if there is no blood gas). Moderate: An exacerbation using systemic corticosteroids with or without antibiotics in treatment (assuming no respiratory failure if there is no blood gas).

Severe: Exacerbation (pO2 <60 mmHg, pCO2 <45 mmHg) with type 1 respiratory failure and hypoxemia, but without acidosis and carbondioxide retention.

Very Severe: Exacerbation with type 2 respiratory failure that can be compensated by hypoxia but with retention of carbondioxide without acidosis (pH>7.35, pO2 <60 mmHg, pCO2>45 mmHg, H + <44 nM).

Life-Threatening: The disease was classified according to criteria specified as exacerbation (pH <7.35, pCO2>45 mmHg, H + > 44 nM) with Type 2 respiratory failure accompanied by decompensated acidosis and carbon dioxide retention.

### **Laboratory Analyses**

Hematological parameters were studied in tubes containing ethylenedititrile-tetraacetic acid (EDTA) using the XN-1000 hematology analyzer (Sysmex Corporation, Kobe, Japan) within the first hour to prevent errors in the parameters. CRP was studied with serum gel tubes and Cobas 6000 analyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Blood gas samples were studied with Siemens Rapidlab 1265 blood gas analyzer (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics, Medfield, MA, USA) within the first 10 minutes, protecting the cold chain with heparin injectors.

### **Statistical Analyses**

Statistical analyses were conducted using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS Inc; Chicago, IL, USA) version 20.0 software. The variables were determined using visual (histograms, probability plots) and analytical methods (Kolmogorov-Smirnov/Shapiro-Wilk's test) to evaluate whether or not they are normally distributed. The independent sample t-test was used to compare continuous variables with normal distributions and the Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare variables with non-normal distributions. Analysis results of different variables were given as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation, median (minimum-maximum), n (%) by investigating the test results. The Chi-square test or the Fischer's exact test (when the Chi-square test assumptions do not hold due to low expected cell counts), where appropriate, was used to compare the proportions in different groups. The relationship of inflammatory markers with COPD severity was evaluated with ROC analysis, and sensitivity and specificity of the values were calculated. A value of p<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

Table 1. Demographic data and c	clinical parameters	of patients
---------------------------------	---------------------	-------------

Variables		group 1 (n=74)	group 2 (n=119)	p value
Age		69.01±10.66	73.20±12.44	0.017*
Gender, n (%)	male	36 (48.6)	74 (62.2)	0 ( 47.
	female	38 (51.4)	45 (37.8)	0.64/μ
Fever, n (%)	yes	6 (8.1)	34 (29.4)	<0.001
	no	68 (91.9)	85 (70.6)	<0.001µ
Infection, n (%)	yes	10 (13.5)	55 (46.2)	(0.001
	no	64 (86.5)	64 (53.8)	<0.001µ
Hospitalization, n (%)	yes	64 (86.5)	35 (29.4)	(0.001
	no	10 (13.5)	84 (70.6)	<0.001µ
Hospitalization time, median (min-max)		0 (0-9)	5 (0-30)	<0.001a
*: Student T test, α: Mann Whitney U test, μ	: Chi-Square t	est		

Data not normally distributed was shown as median (min-max.),

Normally distributed data was shown as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

### Results

Table 1 shows the comparison of demographic data and clinical parameters of patients with low attack severity (Group 1) and high attack severity (Group 2). The mean age of the patients with low attack severity (n = 74) was found to be  $69.01 \pm 10.66$  years, and the mean age of the patients with severe attack (n = 119) was  $73.20 \pm 12.44$  years. While 46.2% of the group with higher attack severity had infection, this rate was 13.5% in the group with lower attack severity (p <0.001).

Table 2 shows the evaluation of hematological and inflammatory markers of both groups. The group with higher COPD severity had higher NLR and PLR values (p < 0.001, p < 0.001, respectively), and LMR values were lower (p < 0.001).

Blood gas analysis in both groups is shown in Table 3. While the pH, pO2 values of Group 2 were lower (p < 0.001, p < 0.001, respectively), PCO2, HCO3, H values were higher (p < 0.001, p = 0.004, p = 0.002, respectively). ROC analysis of inflammatory markers according to the severity of COPD disease is shown in Figure 1. In determining the severity of the disease, 4.33 cut off value had a sensitivity of 65% and a specificity of 66% for NLR.

While 94 (48.7%) COPD patients were hospitalized from the emergency department for clinical and intensive care, 99 (51.3%) COPD patients were discharged.

### Discussion

According to the main findings of this retrospective study, the group with high COPD severity was found to have higher NLR, PLR values, and lower LMR values. At the same time, while 46.2% of the group with higher attack severity had infection, this rate was found to be 13.5% in the group with lower attack severity.

Table 2. Evaluation o	f hematologica	al and inflammatory	/ markers with the s	everity of COPD
	1 110111000000000			

Variables	Group 1 (n=74)	Group 2 (n=119)	p value
Wbc (103uL)	9.19 (2.85-20.89)	11.50 (4.62-31.48)	0.045α
Neutrophil (103uL)	5.94 (1.23-16.26)	7.76 (2.43-29.03)	0.001α
Lymphocyte (103uL)	1.80 (0.49-3.91)	1.42 (0.17-6.47)	<0.001a
Monocyte (103uL)	0.73 (0.11-2.14)	0.79 (0.05-1.80)	0.396α
PLT (103uL)	242.42±68.84	247.08±68.43	0.647μ
CRP (mg/dl)	7.55 (1-155.5)	26.10 (1-357)	<0.001a
NLR	3.60 (0.89-23.78)	5.36 (1.08-24.47)	<0.001a
PLR	132.73 (51.74-465.31)	169.40 (41.89-1638.89)	<0.001a
LMR	2.53 (0.61-9.78)	1.77 (0.32-7.27)	<0.001a

\*: Student T test,  $\alpha$ : Mann Whitney U test,  $\mu$ : Chi-Square test

Wbc: White blood cell, PLT: platelet, CRP: C-reactive protein; NLR: neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; PLR: platelet to lymphocyte ratio; LMR: lymphocyte to monocyte ratio

Data not normally distributed was shown as median (min-max.),

Normally distributed data was shown as mean ± standard deviation.

Variables	Group 1 (n=52)	group 2 (n=119)	p value
рН	7.40±0.43	7.37±0.78	<0.001*
pO2	55.50±19.54	39.82±12.30	<0.001*
pCO2	37.80 (23.00-66.50)	45.40 (24.80-105.60)	<0.001a
НСО3	24.35 (14.90-38.20)	25.80 (15.10-45.30)	0.004α
Н	39.2 (29.76-47.33)	41.36 (28.91-85.51)	0.002α

Table	3.	Evaluation	of the	blood	das ana	lysis with	the severit	v of COPD
Tuble	٠.	LValuation	orune	bioou	gus unu	19313 99101	the sevent	y 01 COI D

\*: Student T test, α: Mann Whitney U test

pH: Potential of Hydrogen, pO2: partial oxygen pressure, pCO2: partial carbon dioxide pressure, HCO3:bicarbonate, H: Hydrogen

Data not normally distributed was shown as median (min-max.),

Normally distributed data was shown as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

Although there are various classifications for COPD, the most commonly used classification is the GOLD 2011. This classification is supported by symptoms, the severity of airflow limitation, history of exacerbation and presence of comorbidity<sup>14</sup>. Other known classification methods are BODE index (Body mass index, airflow Obstruction, Dyspnoea and Exercise), mBODE (BODE modified in grading of walked distance), ADO (Age, Dyspnoea, airflow Obstruction), DOSE (Dyspnoea, Obstruction, Smoking, Exacerbation)<sup>15</sup>. However, the classification made by Burge et al.<sup>13</sup> for the severity of disease of a patient who applied to the emergency department with an attack, seems to be more useful and practical because there is no blood gas requirement for COPD patients who apply with a light attack and no need for spirometry.

Potential of Hydrogen (pH), partial carbon dioxide pressure (pCO2), partial oxygen pressure (pO2) and bicarbonate (HCO3-) are parameters that show both the acid-base balance and respiratory functions of a person obtained as a result of blood gas test16. Arterial blood gas analysis is an indirect indicator of lung capacity and functions<sup>17</sup>. In various studies, it is known that venous blood gas, end-tidal carbon dioxide (ETCO2), pulse oximetry measurements were tried in COPD patients instead of using arterial blood gas. These studies show that there is an effort to use minimally invasive and non-invasive methods to determine the severity of the attack in COPD patients<sup>18-20</sup>. In a case with a severe AE-COPD, pH and pO2 decreased, while PCO2 was expected to increase, pH significantly decreased, and PCO2 significantly increased. In the patient's intensive care follow-up, the need for non-invasive positive pressure ventilation (NIP-PV), endotracheal intubation (ETI) was revealed<sup>21</sup>.

In our study, in accordance with the literature, as the attack severity increased, blood pH, pO2 decreased and PCO2 increased. NLR is an inflammatory marker obtained by dividing the absolute neutrophil count by the absolute lymphocyte count. PLR is an inflammatory marker obtained by dividing the number of absolute platelets to the absolute number of lymphocytes<sup>22</sup>. It was reported that both markers, such as CRP and procalcitonin, showed an effective increase in inflammatory processes<sup>23</sup>. While Rovina et al.<sup>24</sup> determined the rate of NLR as  $5.38 \pm 4.6$  in hospitalized patients with COPD attack, in our patients with high attack

severity, this rate was found to be 5.36 (1.08-24.47). Demirtaş et al.<sup>26</sup> found the cut-off value for NLR was 9.39, with a sensitivity of 71.7% and a specificity of 61.1% in COPD attack patients. In our study, 4.33 cut off value had a sensitivity of 65% and a specificity of 66% for NLR according to the severity of COPD disease.

LMR is an inflammatory marker obtained by dividing the absolute lymphocyte count by the absolute monocyte count. Although it has been shown as a new prognostic biomarker that has been a precursor of the inflammatory response, like NLR and PLR, especially in cases of malignancy, unlike NLR and PLR, for example in stroke cases, its low value represents significance<sup>9,25</sup>. In a study, examining NLR, PLR, and LMR, although a relationship was found between NLR increase and death in COPD patients, it was reported that a similar relationship for PLR and LMR values was not found<sup>27</sup>. In our study, in the group with high attack severity, an increase in NLR and PLR and low LMR values were found significant. This shows that just like NLR and PLR, low LMR can be used as a predictor of severe COPD attack. In COPD patients, coexistence of infection is a very common condition<sup>28</sup>.

In our study, the presence of infection is an indication of increased attack severity. Both the presence of infection and the cumulative effect of the attack results in an increase of inflammatory markers such as CRP, NLR and PLR, and reduction of LMR. Invasive and troublesome methods such as arterial blood gas and spirometry are used in the evaluation of COPD severity or during the diagnosis<sup>29,30</sup>. Furutate et al.<sup>31</sup> indicates that COPD severity can be predicted with some hematological inflammatory markers. In addition, although NLR and PLR are frequently used hematological markers<sup>23</sup>, to the best of our knowledge, in the literature, LMR for COPD attack severity has not been studied.

### **Study Limitations**

There are some limitations in our study. First, not having arterial blood gas analysis in all of our patients can be considered as a limitation, but it is also an advantage in terms of providing evaluation in patients with mild symptoms without blood gas in the emergency practice. At the same time, because our study is a single-centered study, the limited number of patients is another limitation.

### Conclusion

Although there are studies in the literature that previously examined the relationship between inflammatory markers and COPD disease, to the best of our knowledge, there is no two-way study that could evaluate the severity of the disease with inflammatory markers, with or without blood gas parameters. As the disease severity increases, the hospitalization rates increase and also NLR, PLR values increase. In addition, the newly used LMR value is decreasing. From another point of view, changes in inflammatory markers in COPD exacerbation cases directly affect disease severity and hospitalization rates. This shows that COPD attack will be severe in the presence of infection in COPD patients. The CBC test, which can be used just like blood gas in COPD attack but is more practical, provides a separate benefit in predicting the severity of COPD.

**Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

### References

- Chong J, Leung B, Poole P. Phosphodiesterase 4 inhibitors for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;9:CD002309. doi: 10.1002/14651858. CD002309.pub5
- Herath SC, Normansell R, Maisey S, Poole P. Prophylactic antibiotic therapy for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;10:CD009764. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009764.pub3
- Bailey C, Hewison A, Karasouli E, Staniszewska S, Munday D. Hospital care following emergency admission: a critical incident case study of the experiences of patients with advanced lung cancer and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. J Clin Nurs. 2016;25:2168-79. <u>doi</u>: 10.1111/jocn.13170
- 4. Poole P, Sathananthan K, Fortescue R. Mucolytic agents versus placebo for chronic bronchitis or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;5:CD001287. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001287.pub6
- Barnes PJ. Inflammatory mechanisms in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2016;138:16-27. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.05.011
- Sahin F, Kosar AF, Aslan AF, Yigitbas B, Uslu B. Serum Biomarkers in Patients with Stable and Acute Exacerbation of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A Comparative Study. J Med Biochem. 2019;38:503-11. doi: 10.2478/jomb-2018-0050

- Kalemci S, Akin F, Sarihan A, Sahin C, Zeybek A, Yilmaz N. The relationship between hematological parameters and the severity level of chronic obstructive lung disease. Pol Arch Intern Med. 2018;128:171-7. doi: 10.20452/pamw.4198
- Ertem AG, Yayla C, Acar B, Kirbas O, Unal S, Uzel Sener M, et al. Relation between lymphocyte to monocyte ratio and shortterm mortality in patients with acute pulmonary embolism. Clin Respir J. 2018;12:580-6. doi: 10.1111/crj.12565
- Song Y-J, Wang L-X, Hong Y-Q, Lu Z-H, Tong Q, Fang X-Z, et al. Lymphocyte to monocyte ratio is associated with response to first-line platinum-based chemotherapy and prognosis of early-stage non-small cell lung cancer patients. Tumour Biol. 2016;37:5285-93. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-4397-8.
- Gong S, Gao X, Xu F, Shang Z, Li S, Chen W, et al. Association of lymphocyte to monocyte ratio with severity of coronary artery disease. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97: e12813. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000012813
- 11. McKeever TM, Hearson G, Housley G, Reynolds C, Kinnear W, Harrison TW, et al. Using venous blood gas analysis in the assessment of COPD exacerbations: a prospective cohort study. Thorax. 2016;71:210-5. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207573
- Bas FY, Tola EN, Sak S, Cankaya BA. The role of complete blood inflammation markers in the prediction of spontaneous abortion. Pak J Med Sci. 2018;34:1381. doi: 10.12669/ pjms.346.15939
- Burge S, Wedzicha JA. COPD exacerbations: definitions and classifications. Eur Respir J Suppl. 2003;41:46-53. doi: 10.1183/09031936.03.00078002
- 14. Vestbo J, Hurd SS, Agusti AG, Jones PW, Vogelmeier C, Anzueto A, et al. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: GOLD executive summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187:347-65. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201204-0596PP
- Camiciottoli G, Bigazzi F, Bartolucci M, Cestelli L, Paoletti M, Diciotti S, et al. BODE-index, modified BODE-index and ADOscore in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: relationship with COPD phenotypes and CT lung density changes. COPD. 2012;9:297-304. doi: 10.3109/15412555.2012.661000
- Pruitt WC, Jacobs M. Interpreting arterial blood gases: easy as ABC. Nursing. 2004;34:50-3. doi: 10.1097/00152193-200408000-00052
- 17. Saure E, Eagan T, Jensen R, Voll-Aanerud M, Aukrust P, Bakke P, et al. Explained variance for blood gases in a population with COPD. Clin Respir J. 2012;6:72-80. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-699X.2011.00248.x
- Kelly AM. Can venous blood gas analysis replace arterial in emergency medical care. Emerg Med Australas. 2010;22:493-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-6723.2010.01344.x
- 19. Amalakanti S, Pentakota MR. Pulse oximetry overestimates oxygen saturation in COPD. Respir Care. 2016;61:423-7. doi: 10.4187/respcare.04435
- 20. Kartal M, Goksu E, Eray O, Isik S, Sayrac AV, Yigit OE, et al. The value of ETCO2 measurement for COPD patients in the emergency department. Eur J Emerg Med. 2011;18:9-12. doi: 10.1097/MEJ.0b013e328337b9b9
- 21. Khilnani GC, Saikia N, Banga A, Sharma SK. Non-invasive ventilation for acute exacerbation of COPD with very high PaCO(2): A randomized controlled trial. Lung India. 2010;27:125-30. doi: 10.4103/0970-2113.68308

- 22. Aksoy E, Karakurt Z, Gungor S, Ocakli B, Ozmen İ, Yildirim E, et al. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio is a better indicator of COPD exacerbation severity in neutrophilic endotypes than eosinophilic endotypes. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2018;13:2721-30. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S170353
- 23. Qin B, Ma N, Tang Q, Wei T, Yang M, Fu H, et al. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and platelet to lymphocyte ratio (PLR) were useful markers in assessment of inflammatory response and disease activity in SLE patients. Mod Rheumatol. 2016;26:372-6. doi: 10.3109/14397595.2015.1091136
- 24. Rovina N, Dima E, Gennimata SA, Vakali S, Koutsoukou A, Koulouris N. Neutrophil/lymphocyte (NLR) ratio in infectious acute exacerbations of COPD (AECOPD). Eur Respir J. 2014;44:3997.
- Ren H, Liu X, Wang L, Gao Y. Lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio: a novel predictor of the prognosis of acute ischemic stroke. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2017;26:2595-602. doi: 10.1016/j. jstrokecerebrovasdis.2017.06.019
- 26. Demirtaş E, Demirtaş E. Diagnostic value of neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio to rule out chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbation from acute heart failure in the emergency department. Disaster Emerg Med J. 2019;4(3):102-8. doi: 10.5603/DEMJ.2019.0021

- RahimiRad S, RahimiRad M, Ghaffari M. Association between admission neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and outcomes in patients with acute exacerbation of COPD. Eur Respir J. 2017; 50: PA3644. doi: 10.1183/1393003.congress-2017.PA3644
- 28. Sethi S. Infection as a comorbidity of COPD. Eur Respir J. 2010;35:1209-15. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00081409
- 29. Oliver P, Buno A, Alvarez-Sala R, Fernandez-Calle P, Alcaide MJ, Casitas R, et al. Clinical, operational and economic outcomes of point-of-care blood gas analysis in COPD patients. Clin Biochem. 2015;48:412-8. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2014.12.020
- Mapel DW, Dalal AA, Johnson P, Becker L, Hunter AG. A clinical study of COPD severity assessment by primary care physicians and their patients compared with spirometry. Am J Med. 2015;128:629-37. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2014.12.018
- 31. Furutate R, Ishii T, Motegi T, Hattori K, Kusunoki Y, Gemma A, et al. The neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio is related to disease severity and exacerbation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Intern Med. 2016;55:223-9. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.55.5772

### Original Article Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

# Diagnosing Meningitis at the Emergency Department – How Accurate are we?

Jen Heng PEK<sup>1</sup>, Dennis Clement FORSYTHE<sup>2</sup>, Ling TİAH<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of emergency Medicine, Sengkang, general Hospital, SingHealth, Singapore <sup>2</sup>Department of accident and emergency Changi general Hospital, SingHealth, Singapore

### Abstract

Objectives: Meningitis is associated with a high mortality rate and neurologic sequelae are common among survivors. However, it is a diagnostic challenge and can be under-recognized at the Emergency Department (ED). We aimed to determine the accuracy of the diagnosis of meningitis made in the ED and identify features associated with diagnostic accuracy.

**Methods:** A retrospective review of case records was carried out. Cases presenting to the ED an urban tertiary center from 2013 to 2017 with a diagnosis of meningitis in its records were selected. Information about patient demographics, clinical features and course were collected for analysis. Accuracy was determined by comparing the ED diagnosis with discharge diagnosis on inpatient record.

**Results:** There were 83 cases of meningitis diagnosed in the ED during the study period. The median age was 36 (range 15 to 96) years old and 54 (65.1%) of the patients were male. Fever (n=76, 91.6%), headache (n=50, 60.2%) and altered mental status (n=24, 28.9%) were the most common symptoms and neck stiffness (n=28. 33.7%), Glasgow Coma Score less than 15 (n=16, 19.3%) and Kernig's sign (n=11, 13.3%) were the most common signs. The accuracy of ED diagnosis of meningitis was 28.9%. Among the cases which were not meningitis, the most common diagnoses were other infections followed by conditions involving the musculoskeletal and central venous systems. Vomiting (OR 3.33, 1.24-9.09, p=0.021) was the only feature associated with diagnostic accuracy.

**Conclusion:** Meningitis is a great mimicker and can be difficult to diagnose in the ED. Given the lack of clinical features which can be used to differentiate meningitis from other conditions, a high index of suspicion is required so that interventions can be promptly initiated to reduce mortality and morbidity.

Keywords: Diagnosis, Emergency Department, Meningitis

### Introduction

Meningitis is defined as the inflammation of the meninges which consist of the pia, arachnoid and dura mater. It is typically characterised by an elevated number of white blood cells in the cerebrospinal fluid. Causes include infection due to bacteria, viruses, fungi and parasites, as well as medications such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Streptococcus pneumoniae and Neisseria meningitidis are the main causative organisms responsible for community-acquired bacterial meningitis in adults.

There are approximately 1.2 million cases of meningitis per annum worldwide<sup>1</sup>. Meningitis is associated with high mortality rates in the world and is among the 10 most common infectious disease contributors. It is responsible for approximately 135,000 deaths throughout the world each year<sup>2</sup>. Mortality is higher in the elderly and healthcare associated bacterial meningitis<sup>3</sup>. Neurologic sequelae are common among survivors.

The diagnosis of meningitis is crucial but may prove to be challenging at the Emergency Department (ED) as patients may present with non-specific signs and symptoms. A study of 650 patients showed mimics were common and included right-sided pneumonia, gastroenteritis, otitis, tonsillitis, exanthema subitum, and urinary tract infections<sup>4</sup>. Therefore, the aims of this observational study are to determine the diagnostic accuracy of meningitis in the ED and to identify features associated with diagnostic accuracy. We hypothesize that the accuracy was low as diagnosis of meningitis can be difficult in the ED.

### **Materials and Methods**

### Setting

This study was conducted in the ED of an urban tertiary hospital which had an annual attendance of about 150,000 patients.

### Design

This was a retrospective study based on the review of case records. All cases that presented to the ED from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2017 with the ICD-10 diagnosis codes containing meningitis were included. The patients' medical

records were accessed for data collection and tabulated in a standardized form. Information including demographics, clinical features, investigations performed, clinical progress in the ED and hospital, length of the patient's stay in the hospital, as well as the diagnosis in ED and at discharge were collected for analysis. Any information which was not documented was analysed as not present. The discharge diagnosis on inpatient record was used as the standard to determine the accuracy of the diagnosis at the ED.

This study was approved by Institutional Review Board (CIRB 2018/2241). Waiver of patient consent was granted.

### **Statistical Methods**

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 22 (SPSS, Chicago, L). Categorical and continuous data were presented as frequency with percentage and median with range respectively. Association between categorical variable was assessed using chi-square test.

### RESULTS

### **Patient Characteristics**

There were 83 cases of meningitis diagnosed in the ED during the study period, average to about 17 cases per year. (Table 1).

### **Clinical Features**

Others

At presentation to the ED, fever, headache and altered mental status were the most common symptoms, whereas neck stiffness, Glasgow Coma Score less than 15 and Kernig's sign were the most common signs (Table 2). The classic triad of fever, headache and neck stiffness was only present in 16 (19.3%) patients.

Table 1. Patient Characteristics			
Median age, in years (range)	36 (15 to 96)		
Gender	n (%)		
Male	54 (65.1)		
Female	29 (34.9)		
Race	n (%)		
Chinese	37 (44.6)		
Malay	25 (30.1)		
Indian	13 (15.7)		

8 (9.6)

### **Investigations Performed**

Computed Tomography of the head (CT head) was performed at the ED for 79 (95.2%) patients. Only 2 scans showed features suggestive of meningitis – one was reported as mild diffuse brain parenchymal edema as evidenced by crowding of sulci and relative narrowing of the basal cisterns, the other was reported as suggestion of diffuse leptomeningeal enhancement, which may be due to meningitis in the context of sepsis.

Blood culture was taken for 77 (92.7%) patients, with Streptococcus agalactiae (n=3, 3.6%) being the most common organism detected. Lumbar puncture was performed in 29 (34.9%) patients. Among these, cerebrospinal fluid culture grew Streptococcus agalactiae, Streptococcus intermedius and Eikenella corrodens. (Table 3)

### **Clinical Management at the ED**

All patients were admitted to the hospital for further care. Empirical antibiotic coverage was initiated at the ED according to institutional guidelines in 73 (88.0%) patients. Acyclovir was given in 28 (33.7%) patients and dexamethasone in 3 (3.6%) patients. One (1.2%) patient required emergent right frontal extra ventricular drain insertion for relief and monitoring of raised intracranial pressure.

### **Clinical Outcome**

The mortality in this case series was 3.6%. Two (2.4%) patients had residual neurological deficits at discharge from

### Table 2. Clinical features

Clinical symptoms	n (%)
Fever	76 (91.6)
Headache	50 (60.2)
Altered Mental Status	24 (28.9)
Vomit	22 (26.5)
Neckache	18 (21.7)
Lethargy	9 (10.8)
Photophobia	8 (9.6)
Seizure	7 (8.4)
Giddy	5 (6.0)
Clinical signs	n (%)
Neck stiffness	28 (33.7)
Glasgow Coma Score less than 15	16 (19.3)
Kernig's sign	11 (13.3)
Abnormal pupils	3 (3.6)
Neurological deficit	3 (3.6)
Brudzinski's sign	2 (2.4)

Pek et al.	
Diagnosing Meningitis at the Emergency Department – How Accurate are we?	195

Table 4 Discussions to set the surface Discharge

Blood Culture	n (%)
No bacterial growth	67 (80.7)
Streptococcus agalactiae	3 (3.6)
Klebsiella pneumonia	2 (2.4)
Streptococcus pneumonia	1 (1.2)
Mixed bacterial growth	1 (1.2)
Skin contaminant	3 (3.6)
Cerebrospinal Fluid	n (%)
Culture	
No bacterial growth	27 (32.5)
Streptococcus agalactiae	1 (1.2)
Mixed bacterial growth	1 (1.2)

the hospital. The median length of hospital stay was 4 (range 1 to 42 days), including time spent in the rehabilitation ward.

### **Accuracy of ED Diagnosis**

Among these 83 cases with meningitis diagnosed at the ED, 24 were diagnosed with meningitis based on the discharge diagnosis on inpatient record, giving an accuracy of 28.9%. The most common diagnoses at discharge for those without meningitis included other infections followed by conditions involving the musculoskeletal and central venous systems (Table 4).

Vomiting was the only significant predictor for an accurate ED diagnosis of meningitis among all cases of meningitis suspected in ED, OR 0.30 (95% CI 0.11-0.83, p=0.021).

### Reattendance

Thirteen (15.7%) cases were diagnosed by ED as meningitis at a second attendance. The median number of days between the first and second attendances was 2 (Range 0 to 5). The misdiagnoses at the first attendance included upper respiratory tract infection (n=6, 46.2%), viral fever (n=5, 38.6%), benign paroxysmal position vertigo (n=1, 7.6%) and seizure (n=1, 7.6%). Among these, 6 (46.2%) patients were diagnosed with meningitis based on the discharge diagnosis on inpatient record. The accuracy of ED diagnosis of meningitis was not significantly different for this group of patients (p=0.135).

### Discussion

In our study, the accuracy of meningitis diagnosed at the ED was low. Although meningitis was diagnosed in the ED,

Table 4. Diagnosis at nospital Disc	Indige
Diagnosis	n (%)
Meningitis	24 (28.9
Other infections	33 (39.8)
Upper respiratory tract infec-	11
tion	
Viral fever	7
Sepsis, source unspecified	4
Pneumonia	4
Sinusitis	2
Cellulitis	2
Urinary tract infection	1
Otomastoiditis	1
Dengue	1
Musculoskeletal conditions	12 (14.5)
Headache	11
Neck pain	1
Neurological conditions	9 (10.8)
Seizure	3
Cerebral abscess	1
Intracranial hypertension	1
Transient ischemic attack	1
Encephalopathy	1
Syncope	1
Central cord stenosis	1
Psychiatric conditions	3 (3.6)
Drug withdrawal	1
Schizophrenia	1
Bipolar disorder	1
Metabolic conditions	2 (2.4)
Diabetes mellitus	1
Gout	1

the inpatient team had decided otherwise following hospital admission. We postulated that the low accuracy could be due to 4 main reasons. Firstly, ED physicians might have erred on the side of caution by assuming the worst and treating the patients as for meningitis. This lower threshold for diagnosis and treatment was likely due to the significant morbidity and mortality associated with this condition. Next, ED physicians could not rely on pertinent features of history or physical examination to make the diagnosis as these patients had non-specific signs and symptoms. For instance, the classic triad of fever, headache and neck stiffness was present in less than 20% of the patients. Similarly, meningeal signs such as neck stiffness was present in about a third of patients while Brudzinski's sign and Kernig's sign were present less commonly. Furthermore, even when present, no isolated feature had been reported to be diagnostic of meningitis<sup>5-7</sup>.

Lastly, the length of stay at the ED was shorter than at the inpatient unit. Additional time may be necessary for further clinical evaluation, performing additional investigations and observing the patient's clinical progress in order to improve the diagnostic accuracy of meningitis.

We also found that patients who had experienced vomiting were more likely to have an accurate diagnosis of meningitis at the ED. This could be explained by the following mechanism in meningitis, the intracranial pressure may be elevated as a result of the infectious and/or inflammatory processes, thus stimulating area postrema which is the vomiting centre of the brain, leading to vomiting. However, further research involving different patient populations in the ED setting would be necessary to evaluate this finding before any recommendation can be made for its utility in the ED. For now, we emphasize that ED physicians would need to take into consideration the entire clinical context of the patient and use relevant investigations to confirm or refute the diagnosis.

CT head may be performed when evaluating a patient for meningitis. Potential findings include acute cerebral swelling; moderate widening of basal cisterns, interhemispheric fissure, and subarachnoid convexity space; ventricular widening; subdural collection; focal cortical necrosis; cerebral infarcts; contrast enhancing basal meninges, ependymitis, or generalized cerebral atrophy<sup>8</sup>. CT head could also be used to exclude other intracranial pathology such as a mass lesion which may account for the patient's presentation. In our study, CT head was performed in more than 95% of patients but the incidence of positive finding for meningitis was very low. As with previous reports, CT scan findings may be normal in more than 50% of patients, hence the diagnosis of meningitis could not made on the basis of imaging studies alone<sup>9,10</sup>.

Another important diagnostic study to perform in a patient with meningitis would be lumbar puncture. However, caution must be taken in selecting appropriate patients as lumbar puncture was responsible for up to 30% of deaths in the acute stages of meningitis as a result of coning from raised intracranial pressure<sup>11</sup>. Thus, CT head should be done in patients showing signs of raised intracranial pressure before performing lumbar puncture to avoid this fatal complication. In our setting, lumbar puncture was not routinely performed in our ED but was carried out by the inpatient team upon admission. As a result, not all patients had lumbar puncture performed. Lumbar puncture was performed in 29 patients after evaluation by the inpatient team. Of these, 24 patients were eventually diagnosed with meningitis. Cerebrospinal fluid culture was only positive in 2 patients and this was likely due to our institutional practice as antibiotics were administered early at the ED before lumbar puncture was performed at the inpatient unit.

In our study, 88% of patients who were admitted by the ED with presumed meningitis were commenced on guideline-appropriate antibiotics for meningitis. In comparison to this, a study conducted in Netherlands showed that only 33% of patients received appropriate antibiotics in compliance with the Dutch guidelines<sup>12</sup>. The need to administer antibiotics quickly in meningitis must be highlighted as delay between presentation and antibiotic administration was associated with worse patient outcomes<sup>13,14</sup>. Therefore, ED physicians must be aware of institutional guidelines for coverage. An accessible reference guide or use of an electronic prompt are viable options which can serve as a useful reminder as meningitis was uncommonly encountered in the ED. On the other hand, there was no well-designed studies available to assist the ED physician in deciding when to withhold antibiotics when viral meningitis is suspected. In our institution, all cases of meningitis would be admitted for inpatient evaluation. It may be possible to discharge a patient with viral meningitis to an early outpatient follow-up, with advice to return to the ED immediately if unwell<sup>15</sup>. However, risk assessment must be performed and discussed with the patient and/or family.

Adjunctive therapies of meningitis included acyclovir and dexamethasone. Acyclovir was indicated when there was concern for concomitant encephalitis due to herpes simplex virus. Dexamethasone should be given for meningitis due to Streptococcus pneumonia as it would reduce inflammation in the brain and subsequently the incidence of permanent neurologic sequelae such as hearing loss or focal neurological deficit<sup>16-20</sup>. However, dexamethasone was not shown to reduce mortality<sup>21</sup>. Interestingly, the use of adjunctive dexamethasone did not show significant benefit in developing regions. This was attributable to poor nutrition, delayed presentation, presence of chronic diseases such as HIV, or the inadvertent inclusion of cases of tuberculous meningitis<sup>22,23</sup>. The administration of dexamethasone in our study was only done for 3.6% of admissions suspected of meningitis. We postulated that this could be a reflection of the uncertainty surrounding the diagnosis of meningitis. Further efforts at quality improvement in care delivery would be necessary to ensure that dexamethasone was given along with antibiotics when meningitis was suspected in the ED.

Neurosurgical intervention was rare and may be indicated for monitoring or relieving raised intracranial pressure in patients with meningitis<sup>24</sup>. In our study, only 1 patient required an emergent right frontal extra-ventricular drain insertion for relieving and monitoring of raised intracranial pressure. Although uncommon, ED physicians should be aware of the indications for neurosurgical referral. Raised intracranial pressure and hydrocephalus should be promptly detected so that timely neurosurgical referral could be made for placement of an extra-ventricular drain or ventriculo-peritoneal shunt to improve clinical outcomes for patient<sup>25,26</sup>.

### **Study Limitations**

Our study was based on a single centre's experience and therefore would not be able to give a full perspective of meningitis in ED with a different setting and beyond the ED. Furthermore, aspects of clinical management were guided by institutional practices which may not be applicable in other centres, thus affecting generalizability of our results. A major variation should be highlighted – lumbar puncture was not performed at the ED but at the inpatient unit. Therefore, all patients with an ED diagnosis of meningitis would be admitted to the hospital. Consequently, it was not necessary to differentiate between the various causes of meningitis at the ED as this would be further evaluated at the inpatient unit. Nonetheless, we believed that the results of our study had provided a glimpse into challenges of diagnosing meningitis in the ED. This knowledge would be useful for ED physicians in their assessment of patients with suspected meningitis.

Next, a retrospective study was carried out as meningitis was not a common condition with only about 17 cases a year in our context. Therefore, we could only identify patients at the ED who were diagnosed with meningitis and not patients who were assessed not to have meningitis. This thus precluded us from reviewing case records, performing phone follow up, sending out letters or checking the registry of deaths to ascertain the outcome for this group of unidentified patients. We have hence limited the definition of accuracy to the number of patients who had meningitis among all who were diagnosed with meningitis at the ED. We attempted to address this limitation by identifying 13 patients who had a second attendance to the ED which prompted a diagnosis of meningitis.

Also, due to the retrospective nature of this study, data was collected based on the documentation of various medical personnel in the ED record instead of forms with predefined data fields. The robustness of the data would be affected by inconsistency in documentation as well as missing and incomplete information. For instance, details about comorbidities and other risk factors such as diabetes mellitus, alcoholism, human immunodeficiency virus and other immunocompromised states could not be obtained for an accurate presentation and meaningful discussion.

### Conclusion

Meningitis was difficult to diagnose accurately in the ED setting. Given the lack of clinical features which could be used to differentiate meningitis from other conditions, a high index of suspicion would be required so that interventions may be promptly initiated to reduce mortality and morbidity.

### References

- Scheld W, Koedel U, Nathan B et al. Pathophysiology of Bacterial Meningitis: Mechanism(s) of Neuronal Injury. J Infect Dis. 2002;186(s2):S225-33.
- WHO Report on Global Surveillance of Epidemic-prone Infectious Diseases. World Health Organization. Website. Available at: https://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/surveillance/Meningitis.pdf. Accessed 12 April 2019.
- Thigpen M, Whitney C, Messonnier N et al. Bacterial Meningitis in the United States, 1998–2007. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(21):2016-25.
- 4. Levy M, Wong E, Fried D. Diseases That Mimic Meningitis. Clin Pediatr (Phila). 1990;29(5):254-61.

- Rømer F. Difficulties in the Diagnosis of Bacterial Meningitis. Lancet. 1977;310(8033):345-7.
- Thomas K, Hasbun R, Jekel J et al. The Diagnostic Accuracy of Kernig's Sign, Brudzinski's Sign, and Nuchal Rigidity in Adults with Suspected Meningitis. Clin Infect Dis. 2002;35(1):46-52.
- Curtis S, Stobart K, Vandermeer B, et al. Clinical Features Suggestive of Meningitis in Children: A Systematic Review of Prospective Data. Pediatrics. 2010;126(5):952-60.
- Stovring J, Snyder R. Computed Tomography in Childhood Bacterial Meningitis. J Pediatr. 1980;96(5):820-3.
- Akhvlediani T, Shakarishvili R, Tsertsvadze T. The Role of Imaging Studies in CNS Infections. Georgian Med News. 2008;(165):94-8.
- Minonzio G, Paolucci Colico M, Ghezzi A et al. Imaging of Cranio-meningeal Infectious and Inflammatory Involvement. Neurol Sci. 2008;29(S2):279-82.
- 11. Haslam R. Role of Computed Tomography in the Early Management of Bacterial Meningitis. J Pediatr. 1991;119(1):157-9.
- van de Beek D, de Gans J, Spanjaard L et al. Antibiotic Guidelines and Antibiotic Use in Adult Bacterial Meningitis in The Netherlands. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2002;49(4):661-6.
- 13. Proulx N, Frechette D, Toye B et al. Delays in the Administration of Antibiotics Are Associated With Mortality From Adult Acute Bacterial Meningitis. QJM. 2005;98(4):291-8.
- Bryan C, Reynolds K, Crout L. Promptness of Antibiotic Therapy in Acute Bacterial Meningitis. Ann Emerg Med. 1986;15(5):544-547.
- Fitch M, van de Beek D. Emergency Diagnosis and Treatment of Adult Meningitis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2007;7(3):191-200.
- Bacterial Meningitis. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Web site. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/meningitis/ bacterial.html. Accessed August 12 April 2019.
- Aronin S, Peduzzi P, Quagliarello V. Antibiotic Timing and Risk Stratification System in the Management of Community-acquired Bacterial Meningitis. J Am Osteopath Assoc. 1999;99(2):83.
- McIntyre P. Dexamethasone as Adjunctive Therapy in Bacterial Meningitis. JAMA. 1997;278(11):925.
- 19. Havens P. Corticosteroids as Adjunctive Therapy in Bacterial Meningitis. Am J Dis Child. 1989;143(9):1051.
- 20. Brouwer M, Heckenberg S, de Gans J et al. Nationwide Implementation of Adjunctive Dexamethasone Therapy for Pneumococcal Meningitis. Neurology. 2010;75(17):1533-9.
- Brouwer M, McIntyre P, Prasad K et al. Corticosteroids for Acute Bacterial Meningitis. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev. 2015 Sep 12;(9):CD004405.
- Scarborough M, Gordon S, Whitty C et al. Corticosteroids for Bacterial Meningitis in Adults in Sub-Saharan Africa. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(24):2441-50.
- Mai N, Chau T, Thwaites G et al. Dexamethasone in Vietnamese Adolescents and Adults with Bacterial Meningitis. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(24):2431-40.
- 24. Hand W. Posttraumatic Bacterial Meningitis. Ann Intern Med. 1970;72(6):869.
- Park M, Hospenthal D, Bennett J. Treatment of Hydrocephalus Secondary to Cryptococcal Meningitis by Use of Shunting. Clin Infect Dis. 1999;28(3):629-33.
- De Wytt C, Dickson P, Holt G. Cryptococcal meningitis. J Neurol Sci. 1982;53(2):283-92.

# Post partum mortality; WHY? Sheehan's Syndrome

Ahmet Burak ERDEM<sup>1</sup>, Hakan UZUNKAYA<sup>1</sup>, Muhittin Serkan YILMAZ<sup>1</sup>, Bahattin IŞIK<sup>1</sup>, Umut ÇAVUŞ<sup>2</sup> <sup>1</sup> Emergency Department Ministry of Health University Ankara City Hospital <sup>2</sup> Emergency Department Ministry of Health University Dışkapı Yildirim Beyazit Education and Research Hospital

### Introduction

Sheehan's syndrome, defined in 1937, develops partial or complete ischemia in the pituitary gland due to postpartum hemorrhage. It is seen as a hypopituacism that extends to the deficiency of all hormones from a single hormone deficiency<sup>1</sup>. It is usually seen in women who develop severe hypotension or shock due to bleeding or hypovolemia during or after delivery. According to the severity of necrosis in the pituitary gland, the clinical extends asymptomatic state to a symptom that manifests in the acute period <sup>2</sup>. SS is considered to be the most common cause of pituitary insufficiency in developing and underdeveloped countries. The disease may occur for many years without symtomps as well as lack of lactation, menstrual changes, decline in secondary sex characteristics, weakness and hypotension suggest this disease in postpartum period. However, adrenal insufficiency and myxedema coma have been triggered by an intervening trauma, after infection or surgery may result shock and death<sup>3,4</sup>.

### **Case Presentation**

A 30-year-old female patient was admitted to the emergency department with weakness, swelling in the body and bruising of the legs. It was learned that the patient had a difficult birth at home about 10 days ago, that she had a third birth, and that 3 of her children were born healthy. There was no problem in her previous births, but there was no improvement in her postpartum weakness and fatigue. Due to this condition, the patient could not breastfeed her child and her milk was very low. She presented to different health institutions several times because of increased fatigue, frequent urination, fever, swelling of the body and bruising. In fact, no pathology was found in the hemogram, biochemical parameters and urine analysis performed one night before. When the patient came to our emergency department, her general condition was bad and his consciousness was pure and his breathing was superficial. Physical examination revealed hypotensive, tachycardic, pretibial 3 positive bilateral edema, venous ulcers in the legs and ecchymotic linear lines in the left leg (Figure 1-2). The patient was observed to be in shock and cardiopulmonary arrest occurred during this period. The patient was started on cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR). Fingertip blood glucose 30 was measured, and 25 g dextrose was loaded simultaneously. During resuscitation, transthoracic echocardiography was performed by cardiology. There was no evidence of pericardial tamponade, massive pulmonary embolism and aortic dissection. In e-FAST imaging, no intraabdominal free fluid was observed and liver, spleen and renal parenchymal tissue were normal. WBC 4,6 10<sup>3</sup>/µL, Hgb 10,6 g/dL, PLT ise 52 10<sup>3</sup>/µL were measured before the patient's arrest. Glucose was 28 mg / dl, Sodium 122 mmol / L, Potassium 7.09 mmol / L, Calcium 6.6 mmol / L (Table 1). The lactate level was 8.8 mmol / L and metabolic acidosis in venous blood gas. The patient did not respond to fluid-electrolyte (10% calcium gluconate 2 ampoule i.v. infusion) and did not respond to CPR and was considered as exitus.

We didn't get permission because our patient died. However, there is no ethical violation in the materials we use.

### Discussion

The necrosis of the anterior lobe of the pituitary gland develops slowly. It is expected to develop necrosis within about 2 weeks after postpartum hemorrhage. However, sudden death due to this emerging necrosis is not expected<sup>5</sup>. Most of the time the disease occurs over the years and the acute picture is rarely seen. Adrenal and thyroid insufficiency due to hypopituarism causes cardiac abnormalities. If hypoglycemia and electrolyte disturbances are added to the table, fatal



Figure -1. Ecchymos



Figure -2. Venous ulcer

dysrhythmias such as ventricular tachycardia <sup>6</sup> or long QT <sup>7</sup> may develop. Peripheral effusion, mitral valve prolapse, septal hypertrophy, congestive heart failure, left ventricular hypertrophy and sinus bradycardia <sup>8</sup>, dilated cardiomyopa-thy <sup>1</sup> due to hypothyroidism can be seen.

The pituitary gland begins to give symptoms after losing 75% of its tissue. This period was between 1-33 years. In a series of 20 cases, Dökmetaş et al. found this period between 2-40 years. The most common postpartum period is the absence of lactation and changes in the menstrual cycle. Two

clinical tables are the most important clinical manifestations of adrenal insufficiency and hypothyroidism. When adrenal insufficiency develops, hypoglycemic episodes, electrolyte disturbances, hypotension, weakness and hypopigmentation can be seen. Facial edema and periorbital swelling due to hypothyroidism is not expected <sup>4</sup>. What is interesting in our case is that the condition associated with these two clinics is very fast and even the day before the biochemical parameters are normal. In the postpartum period, the patient did not receive pituitary insufficiency treatment and caused the

Biochemistry	The value of the patient	Blood Gas and INR	The value of the patient
Glucose	28 mg/dL	INR	1.39
Urea	111 mg/dL	PH	7,18
Creatinine	2,62 mg/dL	PCO <sub>2</sub>	26,8
GFR	24	HCO3	9,6 mmol/L
ALT	74 U/L	Lactate	8,8 mmol/L
AST	295 U/L	BE	-17,1 mmol/L
CK	6679 U/L	Ionized Ca	0,95 mmol/L
LDH	631 U/L	Potassium	6,8 mmol/L
Sodium	122 mmol/L	Sodium	118 mmol/L
Potassium	7,09 mmol/1		
Calcium	6,6 mg/dL		
Osmolality	264 mosml/kg		
Direct Bilirubin	3,12 mg/dL		

Tablo 1. Biochemical and venous blood gas values of the patient

clinic to rapidly aggravate and go into shock due to cardiac collapse. Acute SS is not a common condition in the literature. Matsuzaki et al. described the case of acute SS in a postpartum 8th day seizure <sup>9</sup>. A similar picture in our case was reported in a 40-year-old patient who developed secondary adrenal insufficiency during appendectomy 19 years after postpartum in the literature <sup>10</sup>.

In our case, there was thrombocytopenia associated with anemia. Normocytic anemia of normochrome is an expected condition in SS. However, pancytopenia was encountered in rare cases. As a result, the effect of anterior pituitary hormones on hematopoietic cells has been implicated <sup>3</sup>. Bisitopenia was observed in our case and the fact that the patient died in a short time may be the reason of not seeing leukopenia. But I have to say; pansitopenia and SS coexistence was a case of postpartum 13th year. HELLP syndrome is a condition that may occur in the last trimester of pregnancy characterized by hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes and thrombocytopenia<sup>11</sup>. In this case, we think that liver enzymes elevation, thrombocytopenia and high LDH levels may be due to HELLP syndrome and even the most important factor of the increase in the severity of SS. The fact that the blood pressure values during the pregnancy of the patient is normal and does not have a seizure strengthens this suspicion.

Hypoglycemia is a rare condition in SS. It occurs as a result of defect in Growth hormone, ACTH and contour regulatory hormones. In SS, coma may be seen due to adrenal insufficiency, hypoglycemia, hyponatremia or hypothyroidism <sup>2,12</sup>. The cause of hyponatremia may be caused by hypopituity and adrenal insufficiency. Fatigue, nausea and changes in consciousness are easily overlooked because of symptoms. Inadequacy of cortisol and ACTH is the cause of fluid-electrolyte impairment. In adrenal crisis, hyponatremia, hyperkalemia, hypocalcemia, hypoglycemia, fever, malaise, hypotension and shock may be seen 13,14. In our patient, there were laboratory and clinical symptoms suggestive of an acute crisis. The hormone levels could not be studied due to time of arrival in the emergency room. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) could not be performed due to exitus. These are the shortcomings in this case presentation for reasons that we do not have. However, the anamnesis, laboratory findings and clinical outcome are sufficiently supported. Difficult birth at home, delayed lactation in postpartum period, fatigue, hypoglycemia, fluid electrolyte disturbance, bisitopenia and elevated liver enzyme values in the hypotensive shock of the patient to us in the case of acute SS is enough to think. In addition, we did not find any case of acute SS in the literature with postpartum 10th day.

Postpartum maternal deaths should be examined and the

underlying causes should be clarified. In this case, we wanted to discuss a patient whose clinical condition deteriorated within 10 days and lost. Based on the anamnesis information of the patient, the pituitary failure is thought to be in the first place but sudden death is not expected. In the last 24 hours, the patient's laboratory values deteriorated and he died of cardiovascular collapse.

In conclusion, if patients have such as difficult birth, hemorrhage and hypovolemia, such as the patients' complaints of fatigue, nausea and weakness should be considered in the postpartum period. Even if the patients routine parameters in emergency services is normal, pituitary, thyroid and adrenal hormone parameters should be investigated.

### References

- 1. Ertopçu K. Intrauterin device. Turkiye Klinikleri J Gynecol Obst-Special Topics. 2012;5(1):37-42.
- 2. Grimaldi L, DeGeorgio F, Andreotta P, D Alessio MC, Piscicelli C, Pascali VL. Mediolegal aspect of an unusual uterine perforation with multiload-Cu 375 R. Am J Forensic Med Pathol 2005; 26: 365-6.
- 3. Boortz HE, Margolis DJ, Ragavendra N, Patel MK, Kadell

BM. Migration of intrauterine devices: Radiologic findings and implications for patient care. Radiographics. 2012 Mar-Apr;32(2):335-52

- 4. Akpınar F, Özgür EN, Yılmaz S, Ustaoğlu O. Sigmoid colon migration of an intrauterine device. Case Rep Obstet Gynecol. 2014; 2014: 207659.
- Cheung ML, Rezai S, Jackman JM, Patel ND, Bernaba BZ, Hakimian O et al. Retained intrauterine device (iud): triple case report and review of the literature. Case Rep Obstet Gynecol. 2018 Dec 5;2018:9362962.
- 6. Esfahani MR, Abdar A. Unusual migration of intrauterine device into bladder and calculus formation. Urology Journal. 2007;4(1):49-51.
- Koca YS, Yıldız I, Yılmaz E. A rare cause of acute abdomen : intrauterine device. Journal of Clinical and Analytical Medicine. 2014;5(3):339-41.
- Toy H, Vural M, Camuzcuoğlu H, Aydın H. Kayıp rahim içi araçların yönetimi ve komplikasyonlar. Düzce Tıp Dergisi 2010;12(3):15-8.
- 9. World Health Organization (1987). Mechanism of action, safety and efficacy of intrauterine devices. Report of a WHO scientific group. Geneva, World Health Organization (WHO Technical Report Series No. 753).

# Pneumonia With Systemic Lupus Erythematous

Fatma KOLBAŞ, Hatice Şeyma AKÇA, Abdullah ALGIN, Serdar ÖZDEMİR, Serkan Emre EROĞLU Emergency Medicine Clinic Ministry of Health University Umraniye education and Research Hospital

### Özet

Acil servise sistemik lupus eritematozus (SLE) tanısı olan ancak 2 senedir tedavi almayan 19 yaşındaki kadın hasta ateş birkaç gündür artan nefes darlığı ve ateş şikayeti ile başvurdu. Fizik muayenesinde inspiratuar ralleri, ekspiryum uzaması ve wheezingleri olan hastanın çekilen kontrastsız bilgisayarlı tomografisinde her iki akciğerde yaygın dağılım gösteren parankimal infitratif dansiteler görüldü.Göğüs hastalıkları tarafından solunum yetmezliği ve akut respiratuar distress sendromu (ARDS) için yakın takip ve tedavi önerilen hastanın kliğinde kötüleşme olması üzerine yoğun bakıma sevk edildi. Enfeksiyon, SLE hastalarında morbidite ve mortalitenin en önemli nedenlerinden biridir. SLE'nin solunum sistemi tutulumlarından biri olan lupus pnömonisi özellikle genç kadınlarda görülür. Yüksek ateş, öksürük, hipoksi ve takipne en sık görülen semptomlardır ve yüksek mortalite ile ilişkilidir. Akut lupus pnömonisinde, tedaviye sistemik kortikosteroid eklenmelidir. Bu hastalarda 72 saat içinde dispne semptomlarında iyileşme olmazsa, metilprednizolon tedavisi önerilir. Acil serviste lupus pnömonisi tanısı alan ve yoğun bakıma ARDS ön tanısı ile sevk edilen 19 yaşındaki kadın hastayı sunuyoruz.

Anahtar kelimeler: SLE, lupus pnömonisi, dispne

### Abstract

A 19-year-old female patient, who was diagnosed with SLE but has not received treatment for 2 years, came to the emergency service due to fever and shortness of breath that has been frequent for several days. In her physical examination, inspiratory rales, expiratory elongation and wheezing were found, and non-contrasted computed tomography of the patient showed parenchymal infiltrative densities that were widely distributed in both lungs. The patient, who was recommended close follow-up for respiratory failure and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) by the department of pulmonology, was referred to the intensive care unit because of worsening of her clique. Infection is one of the most important causes of morbidity and mortality in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Lupus pneumonia, one of the respiratory system involvements of SLE, is especially seen in young women. High fever, cough, hypoxia and tachypnea are the most common symptoms and are associated with high mortality. In acute lupus pneumonia, systemic corticosteroid should be added to the treatment. If these patients do not improve dyspnea within 72 hours, methylprednisolone treatment is recommended. We present a 19-year-old female patient diagnosed with lupus pneumonia in the emergency service and referred to intensive care unit with the diagnosis of ARDS.

Anahtar kelimeler: SLE, lupus pneumonia, dyspnea

### Introduction

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is an autoimmune disease that is 9 times more common in women. SLE is mostly seen in the hematological system, pericardium, skin, kidney and respiratory systems. The appearance of the respiratory system in lupus disease may appear as infection, pleural effusion, alveolar hemorrhage and pulmonary embolism<sup>1</sup>. In this case, we present a 19-year-old lupus pneumonia case who came to the emergency service.

### Case

19-year-old female patient in the green area of the emergency service; She applied with the complaint of shortness of breath and fever, which lasted for about a week and became frequent especially in the last few days. It was learned that the patient was diagnosed with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and has not been under any doctor's control for 2 years. She did not have any disease other than SLE in his background. The patient regularly received allopurinol 300 mg 1\*1, perindopril 5mg 1\*1, hydroxychloroquine sulfate 200 mg 1\*1, carvedilol 6.25 mg 1\*1, furosemide 40mg 1\*1, acetylsalicytic acid 100 mg 1\*1, prednisolone 16mg 1\*1 oral. Also; It was learned that the patient had a flu infection 1 week ago and oseltamivir phosphate 75 mg 2\*1 was started in an outer center primary health center. In her physical examination, the degree of Glaskow Coma Scale (GKS) was 15 orientated cooperative, and when the lung examination was examined, there were bilateral inspiratory rales, expiratory extension and wheezing, other system examinations were natural. TA: 139/81 mm/hg, SpO2:78%, Pulse:143/

minutes, the fever was 38.3 °C. ECG was sinus tachycardia.Results of the patient in laboratory examination were determined as WBC: 17.26 103 mm3, Hgb: 7.5 g /dl, Plt: 419.000/mm3, AST: 31 U/L, ALT: 12 U/L, Creatine: 0.73 mg/dl, BUN: 32.1 mg/dl Glucose: 118 mg/dl CRP: 10.2 mg/ dl and procalcitonin 1.99 ng /Ml. The results in blood gas analysis were pH: 7.45, PCO2: 27mmHg, PO2: 47.5mmHg, sO2: 85% HCO3:18.6 mmol/l, SBE: -4.7mmol/l and lactate: 1.3mmol /l. On the non-contrasted computed tomography (CT) of the patient, parenchymal infiltrative densities with locally occurring air bronchograms were observed in both lungs (Figure-1). The patient was consulted for 4 l/min oxygen. Oseltamivir phosphate 75 mg 2\*1, piperacillin - tazobactam 4,5 g 3\*1, clarithromycin 500 mg 2\*1, prednisolone 40 mg 1\*1, intravenous salbutamol 2.5 mg 4\*1 and budesonide 0.25 mg/ml 2\*1 drugs were recommended to the patient consulted to the chest diseases clinic.Inhaler treatment was also started.Close follow-up and intensive care follow-up were recommended for the patient's respiratory failure and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). Despite the treatment recommended to the patient, his clinical condition deteriorated; the patient was referred to intensive care unit because of the need for a noninvasive ventilator.

### Discussion

We encounter acute respiratory injuries due to lupus as pleural effusion, lupus pneumonia, pulmonary hemorrhage and pulmonary embolism<sup>2</sup>. Due to lupus findings of respiratory system, hospital stay and mortality rates increase<sup>1</sup>. The most common finding in respiratory system findings is pleural effusion. The frequency of pneumonia is between 15-28%<sup>3</sup>. There are publications reporting that hospitalization rates are higher among young women due to pneumonia in patients with SLE in the literature<sup>3</sup>. In these patients, pneumonia-related mortality is 10-12%<sup>4</sup>. Acute fever, cough, tachypnea and hypoxia are seen in pneumonia associated with SLE. The radiological sign of lupus pneumonitis is pleural effusion and infiltration, usually basal and bilateral<sup>5</sup>.

Although the most frequently isolated factor in community-acquired pneumonia is micobacterium pneumonia; In cases with SLE, no cardia aspergillus and S.aureus are the most frequently isolated microorganisms. Therefore; In these patients, initiation of broad spectrum antibiotherapy is recommended<sup>3</sup>. In acute lupus pneumonia, systemic corticosteroid (prednisolone 1-1.5mg / kg day) must be added to



Figure -1. On the non-contrasted computed tomography (CT) of the patient, parenchymal infiltrative densities with locally occurring air bronchograms were observed in both lungs

the treatment. If there is no improvement in clink within 72 hours in these patients, 1 g of methylprednisolone treatment is recommended for 3 days<sup>6</sup>.

### Conclusion

Although pneumonia is rare in patients diagnosed with lupus, it is a clinical condition with mortality. Broad-spectrum antibiotics and immunosuppressive treatment should be started, and necessary precautions should be taken to avoid other complications and close follow-up should be done.

### References

 Santamaria-Alza Y, Sanchez-Bautista J, Fajardo-Rivero JE, Figueroa Pineda CL. Acute respiratory involvement in Colombian patients with systemic lupus erythematosus undergoing chest computed tomography. *Int J RheumDis*. 2019;22(10):1825-31.

- 2. Teh CL, Wan SA, Ling GR. Severe infections in systemic lupus erythematosus: disease pattern and predictors of infection related mortality. *Clin Rheumatol*. 2018;37(8):2081 6.
- García-Guevara G, Ríos-Corzo R, Díaz-Mora A, López-López M, Hernández-Flores J, Fragoso-Loyo H, et al. Pneumonia in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: Epidemiology, microbiology and outcomes. *Lupus*. 2018;27(12):1953-9.
- Musher DM, Thorner AR. Community-acquired pneumonia. *N* Engl J Med. 2014;371(17): 1619–28.
- **5.** Lazovic B, Zlatkovic-Svenda M, Jasarovic D, Stevanovic D. Systemic lupus erythematosus presenting as acute lupus pneumonitis. *Arch Bronconeumol.* 2018;54(4):222-3.
- Corte TJ, DuBois RM, Wells AU. Murray and Nadel's textbook of respiratory medicine. In: The lungs and connectivet issue diseases. 5th ed. St. Louis, MO: Saunders Elsevier; 2010. p. 1398–429.

# Migration of Intrauterine Device and Acute Abdomen

Abdullah ERCAN, Abdullah Keyfo KAMA

Emergency Medicine Department, Ministry Of Health Elazig Fethi Sekin City Hospital

### Introduction

Intrauterine device is the most commonly used contraception method in our country due to its reversible, low risk and low cost<sup>1</sup>. Relatively frequent complications such as ectopic pregnancy and infection may develop due to IUD, also rarely it can damage to organs through uterine perforation and migration to neighboring organs and intraabdominal region. Risk of perforation and migration is reported as 0.05-13 / 1000<sup>2</sup>. Especially, the insertion of IUD in the first three months postpartum increases the risk of complications. Therefore, it is recommended to be insertion from the 6th month<sup>1</sup>. In this study, we presented the case of intra-abdominal IUD, which caused abdominal pain in a 31-year-old female patient.

### Case

A 31-year-old female patient presented to the emergency department with dysuria and pain in the lower abdomen for 3 days. It was learned that the patient who gave birth vaginally 40 days ago was inserted IUD 3 days ago. Vital signs were within normal limits. Abdominal examination revealed tenderness in the left lower quadrant and in the suprapubic region. Routine laboratory studies revealed the following ; white cell count (WBC) : 7500/ml; C-reactive protein : 1,64 mg/dl. The urinanalyse demonstrated WBC 7 / HPF, RBC 9 / HPF and leukocyte (2+). Abdominal x-ray and abdominal USG, were taken to determine the etiology of abdominal pain, revealed that IUD was not in the uterine cavity (Figure-1). A CT scan revealed that the IUD migrated into the abdomen to the left superolateral adjacent region of the uterus (Figures 2 and 3). The patient was consulted with Gynecology Service. IUD embedded in the omentum, was removed by laparoscopy. There was no any complication or organ damage as perforation. The patient received antibiotic treatment for 5 days postoperatively, was discharged without any complications.

### Discussion

Intrauterine devices (IUDs) are a commonly used, effective and reversible contraception methods<sup>3</sup>. While the rate of use is 9.4% in developed countries, it is 16.4% in undeveloped countries<sup>4</sup>. Relatively frequent complications of IUD include, abdominal or pelvic pain and abnormal bleeding, especially during the first few months after its insertion. Other adverse effects are expulsion, heavy bleeding, dysmenorrhea, unplanned pregnancy, and spontaneous abortion<sup>3</sup>. One of the serious complications that may develop due to IUD is uterine perforation. It is rare but can be fatal. Two types of uterine perforation exist. Primary perforation may occur during insertion, which is associated with severe abdominal pain. Secondary perforation is a delayed event, proposed to be due to gradual pressure necrosis of the uterine wall. Delayed rupture can be due to uterine spasms<sup>5</sup>. Approximately 80% of IUDs migrate into peritoneal cavity after perforation. Omentum, rectosigmoid colon, peritoneum, bladder, appendix, small bowel, adnexa, and iliac vein are possible sites of migration<sup>6</sup>.

These patients generally present with not finding the device string. They may be asymptomatic or have nonspecific symptoms such as abdominal pain, nausea and vomiting, constipation, fever, anorexia<sup>6,7</sup>.

Diagnosis generally made by missing device string. As a diagnostic method, transabdominally or transvaginally ultrasonography is a safe, convenient and non-invasive method. Other radiological examinations (x-ray, tomography, magnetic resonance) are preferred diagnostic methods to evaluate complications or when there is a possibility of far-migrated intra-abdominal intrauterine device<sup>8</sup>.

Figure -1. IUD is outside the uterine cavity.



Figure -2. IUD is outside the uterine cavity.



Figure -3. 3 D image of CT scan.



The World Health Organization recommends removing the migrated device as soon as possible. It is suggested that surgical removal should be considered even in asymptomatic patients<sup>9</sup>. It is recommended that to use minimally invasive methods if possible, including hysteroscopy, cystoscopy, colonoscopy, or laparoscopy. If the device is embedded in an organ, exploratory laparotomy should be performed, not minimally invasive methods<sup>5</sup>.

### Conclusion

Serious complications related to IUD are not common and mostly occur during IUD insertion. This procedure should be performed only by experienced healthcare professionals to prevent possible complications. Patients should be monitored closely and the device should be changed when the expiration date expires. Especially, the insertion of IUD in the first three months postpartum increases the risk of complications. Therefore, it is recommended to be insertion from the 6th month.

### Case Report Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

# Young Patient Applying To Emergency Room With Complaint Of Syncope

Sinan Cem Gül<sup>1</sup>, Celal Bitiş<sup>2</sup>, Başar Cander<sup>3</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of General Surgery, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University Faculty of Medicine, Tokat, Turkey
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University Faculty of Medicine, Tokat, Turkey
- <sup>3</sup> Emergency Medicine Department, Istanbul Health Sciences University, Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

### Abstract

In this case report, the clinical course of a 30-year-old male patient who presented to the emergency department with complaints of fainting and urinary incontinence will be explained.

Our aim is: firstly, the anamnesis given by the patients in the emergency department, which leads us to central pathology with the complaint of coming to the emergency department, but whose pulmonary pathology is detected as a result of detailed and persistent anamnesis, is taken in detail even if the patients do not care. In this way, pathology will be reached more quickly. The second is; It is not to be ignored that vein thromboses from superficial veins can cause pulmonary embolism even in young patients with no additional disease and ideal body mass index.

### Introduction

An important theory describing the pathogenesis of venous thromboembolism (VTE), often referred to as the trio of Virchow<sup>1,2</sup>, predicts that VTE occurs as a result of:

- Stasis in the blood flow
- Vascular endothelial injury
- Coagulopathies

Most emboli are thought to originate from the lower extremity proximal vessels (iliac, femoral, saphenous, and popliteal vein), and over 50 percent of patients with deep vein thrombosis (DVT) are present in the proximal veins simultaneously.<sup>3,4</sup>.

In the superficial veins of the lower limbs, phlebitis and thrombosis are usually benign and self-limiting; however, deep venous thrombosis [DVT]) and even pulmonary embolism (PE) may occur in the case of larger axial vessels, such as large saphenous or small saphenous vessels.<sup>5,6</sup>.

### Case

30-year-old male patient with our emergency department with syncope, eyes darkening simultaneously was admitted with complaints of urinary incontinence. In the CV of the patient with a body mass index of 25.4, 6 months ago, he had mild head trauma, no additional disease, he did not use any drugs or cigarettes. Hemodynamics of the patient was stable upon arrival in the emergency room. Ekg in normal sinus rhythm, venous blood gas taken; ph: 7.37, So2: 61%, pco2: 37 mmhg, glucose 142, lactate 4.5. Syncope, urinary incontinence and lactate height caused the patient to suspect central pathologies. In addition, because of the Covid-19 pandemic, patients were not masked in the emergency room, and the patient had a mask. The patient stated that he had difficulty in breathing during this period and wanted to remove the mask. Considering the complaint of dyspnea due to a pandemic, we also took Thorax CT next to Brain Computed Tomography (CT). In the emergency report by the Brain CT Radiology clinic; It was interpreted as a suspect in terms of 9 mm subacute epidural hematoma in the right frontal region in the basal ganglion plane. Thorax CT was reported as normal. The patient was then consulted to neurosurgery. As a result of the neurosurgical consultation, he stated that there was no neurological finding in the patient and suggested polyclinic control.

When the patient got up at the 4th hour of his follow-up, we looked again at the hemodynamic parameters after the patient developed syncope for the second time. Blood pressure was 100/60 mmhg, heart rate was 128, fingertip blood sugar: 140, so2: 96%, and the patient stated that shortness of breath increased. On this, we studied Brain CT, cardiac panel and D-dimer from the patient again. In the emergency

report of the radiology clinic; The last drawn Brain CT reported as normal and corrected the 9 mm subacute epidural hematoma interpretation as an artifact in the right frontal region in the basal ganglion plane indicated in the previous Brain CT. Diffusion MR was performed on the patient who was contacted with simultaneous neurology. Normal reporting of diffusion MR has taken us a little further from central pathologies. The patient's D-dimer result was 8.8  $\mu$ g / ml. On top of that, when the patient's anamnesis was taken again and in detail, he stated that he had a slight shortness of breath for 2 weeks. Upon this, we performed urgent pulmonary CT angiography. The pulmonary CT Angio report reported a compatible appearance with pulmonary arteries and

allowing partial flow in both main pulmonary arteries to fill the lumen in the middle and lower lobar branches on the right and almost in the lower lobar branch on the left (Figure 1,2,3). As a result, we diagnosed the patient with pulmonary embolism, immediately started DMAH treatment and hospitalized the patient in the chest diseases service.

Then, in lower extremity doppler ultrasonography for etiology; Vena safena magna (VSM) was measured 11 mm proximally and 19 mm in the knee joint. In the proximal neighborhood of VSM, varicose venous structures up to the knee joint attracted attention. The appearance of slowed blood flow in VSM and varicose structures was observed. As a result, it was concluded that this is the source of pulmonary embolism.



Figure -1. Nearly complete thrombus and very low flow in the right main pulmonary artery, axial pulmonary CT angio view.



Figure -2. Nearly total thrombus in the right and left pulmonary al lobar arteries and very low flow, axial pulmonary CT angio view.



Figure -2. Nearly total thrombus in the right and left pulmonary al lobar arteries and very low flow, axial pulmonary CT angio view.

### Discussion

Most deaths due to pulmonary embolism occur approximately within the first few hours after application and if no diagnosis has been made. While the mortality of the hospital increases up to 30% due to undiagnosed Pulmonary Embolism, mortality decreases to around 8% in patients diagnosed early. For this reason, patients who come to the emergency department with the complaint of shortness of breath should be vigilant even if the body mass index is normal, even a young patient with no additional disease, and care should be taken to take detailed anamnesis.

### References

1. Dickson BC. Venous thrombosis: About the triple history of Virchow. Univ Toronto Med J 2004; 81: 166.

- 2. Bagot CN, Arya R. Virchow and their trio: a citation problem. Br J Haematol 2008; 143: 180.
- **3.** Girard P, Decousus M, Laporte S, et al. Diagnosis of pulmonary embolism in patients with proximal deep vein thrombosis: specificity of symptoms and perfusion defects at the beginning and during anticoagulant therapy. J Respir Crit Care Med 2001; 164: 1033.
- **4.** van Langevelde K, Srámek A, Vincken PW, et al. To find the origin of pulmonary embolism with total body magnetic resonance direct thrombus imaging technique. Haematologica 2013; 98: 309.
- **5.** Decousus H, Quéré I, Presles E, et al. Superficial venous thrombosis and venous thromboembolism: a large, prospective epidemiological study. Ann Intern Med 2010; 152: 218.
- **6.** Di Nisio M, Wichers IM, Middeldorp S. Superficial thrombophlebitis treatment of the leg. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018; 2: CD004982.

### Case Report Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

# Management of Sigmoid Volvulus Patient Diagnosed by Emergency Department

Sinan Cem Gül<sup>1</sup>, Ahmet Erdur<sup>2</sup>, Murat Yıldırım<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of General Surgery, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University Faculty of Medicine, Tokat, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Emergency Medicine Department, Istanbul Health Sciences University, Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey <sup>3</sup>Tokat Zile Devlet Hastanesi Genel Cerrahi Birimi

### Summary

In this case report, we aimed to present the clinical course of a 53-year-old male patient who was admitted to the emergency department with a complaint of swelling and pain in the abdomen for 3 days and who was diagnosed with sigmoid volvulus. These pathologies, which we rarely encounter in the colonic dysmotiliter and advanced age population, appeared at an earlier age due to the comorbid diseases of our patient. Surgical and endoscopic detorsion options and indications will be explained in the direct management of the patient with typical sigmoid volvulus image.

### Introduction

Sigmoid volvulus (SV) constitutes 2% to 5% of colon occlusions in western countries and 20% to 50% of occlusions in Eastern countries. Africa, Asia, Middle East, South America, Eastern and Northern European countries and Turkey, are endemic to the SV<sup>1</sup>.

SV usually affects adults with the highest incidence seen in 4 -8-decattageous. Constipation history and colonic dysmotility are well-known risk factors for sigmoid volvulus<sup>2</sup>.

About 17 percent of patients develop symptoms of sudden onset acute severe pain, congestion, and vomiting before or with the onset of abdominal pain. Rarely, impaired blood flow to the sigmoid colon can cause necrosis, peritonitis and sepsis<sup>3</sup>.

Successful sigmoidoscopy can detort the sigmoid volvulus when advanced along the twisted segment of the colon<sup>4</sup>.

Emergency surgical management is required in patients with positive perforation and peritonitis findings<sup>5</sup>.

In patients with recurrent sigmoid volvulus, surgical resection is recommended during index acceptance or after a short time due to high risk of recurrence and high mortality rates<sup>5</sup>.

### Case

A 53-year-old male patient has known diagnoses of previous cerebrovascular disease (SVH), epilepsy and diabetes.

She is using levetiracetam, valproic acid, clopridogrel and metformin. No previous abdominal operation history. He applied to the emergency room with the complaint of abdominal pain and swelling that has been existing for 3 days. It was informed that the patient had not discharged gas and feces for approximately two days. When the anamnesis was deepened, it was found out that the patient had a decrease in his movements secondary to cerebrovascular disease secondary to hemiplegia and lived a sedentary life. It has been learned that the problem of constipation has been for many years.

The patient's hemodynamia was stable when she was admitted to the emergency room. The physical examination findings were abdominally distal. There was no defense and rebound, there was sensitivity. A urinary catheter was inserted for follow-up, and routine blood tests were requested. Then, the patient was taken to the patient with direct abdominal x-ray (ADBG) and chest x-ray. In the laboratory, White Blood Cell count 11.5 10<sup>3</sup>/ml, Hemoglobin 11.6 g/ dl, C-reactive protein 1mg/L, kidney function tests and liver function tests were normal. Image compatible with sigmoid volvulus reverse U image was present in ADBG (figure 1). The patient was consulted with general surgery and successful colonoscopic detorsion was performed in the emergency endoscopy unit. During colonoscopy, there was no ischemia and necrosis on the colon mucosa. Then he was interneed to the general surgery service. The patient was discharged with full recovery at the end of the 3-day service follow-up.



Figure -1. Direct radiograph taken in the emergency room



Figure -2. Control direct radiography after detortion

### Discussion

Colon volvulus is the twisting of the colon along its axis. The word volvulus is derived from the Latin term volvere, which means twist. This twist will cause a complete or partial obstruction of the arterial and venous circulation in the intestine. Consequently, rapid and accurate diagnosis is required to speed up the treatment of this potentially fatal condition.

The volvulus itself is a rare cause of intestinal obstruction, which accounts for 5% of cases of gastrointestinal obstruction and 10-15% of large intestinal obstruction. The most common places for colon volvulus are sigmoid colon (75%), cecum (15%), transverse colon (3%) and spleen flexion (2%)<sup>6</sup>.

A sigmoidoscopy can detort the sigmoid volvulus when advanced along the twisted segment of the colon, thereby ensuring enteric luminal flow. It provides protection of blood flow to the affected sigmoid colon. An additional advantage of sigmoidoscopy is that it allows evaluation of mucosal ischemia and necrosis in the colon<sup>4,5</sup>.

Mortality associated with sigmoid volvulus is highest in patients who develop ischemia and necrosis and ranges from 11 to 60 percent in case series. In contrast, mortality is less than 10 percent in patients who do not develop gangrene<sup>7</sup>.

The age of the patient in this case is smaller than the average age of sigmoid volvulus, but the patient's 7-year sedentary life and chronic constipation explain the reason for the current condition.

Recurrent sigmoid volvulus occurs in 84 percent of patients after a first attack that is not treated by surgery. In a retrospective study of 168 patients, the mean recurrence time was 58 days. However, the recurrence time can range from hours to weeks or months. Recurrence rates increase in later periods. Mortality rates seem to be higher in patients presenting with recurrent sigmoid volvulus, and have been reported in up to 21% in one study<sup>8</sup>.

### Result

Sigmoid volvulus is one of the causes of ileus in the elderly and is important because of its life-threatening complications. It is the first choice for early and successful detorsion treatment in patients without acute abdomen and necrosis findings.

Gül

### References

- 1. Raveenthiran R, Madiba TE, Atamanalp SS, De U. Sigmoid kolonun volvulusu. KolorektalDis. 2010; 12 : 1-17.
- Asbun HJ, Castellanos H, Balderrama B, et al. And Dağları>nın yüksek irtifasında Sigmoid volvulus. 230 vakanın gözden geçirilmesi. DisColonRectum 1992; 35: 350
- Sarioğlu A, Tanyel FC, Büyükpamukçu N, Hiçsönmez A. Kolonikvolvulus: Hirschsprung hastalığının nadir görülen bir sunumu. J Pediatr Surg 1997; 32: 117.
- Larkin JO, Thekiso TB, Waldron R, vd. Tekrarlayan sigmoid volvulus - erken rezeksiyon daha sonra acil cerrahiyi engelleyebilir ve morbidite ve mortaliteyi azaltabilir. Ann R CollSurgEngl 2009; 91: 205.
- Atamanalp SS. Sigmoid volvulus tedavisi: 46.5 yaş üstü 952 hastanın tek merkezli deneyimi. TechColoproctol 2013; 17: 561.
- Vogel JD, Feingold DL, Stewart DB ve diğ. Kolon Volvulus ve Akut Kolonik Sahte Tıkanıklık için Klinik Uygulama Kılavuzları. DisColonRectum 2016; 59: 589.
- Halabi WJ, Jafari MD, Kang CY ve diğ. . Amerika Birleşik Devletleri'ndeki kolonikvolvulus: trendler, sonuçlar ve mortalitebelirleyicileri . AnnSurg 2014; 259 : 293-301.
- Kuzu MA, Aşlar AK, Soran A, et al. Akut sigmoid volvulus için acil rezeksiyon: ardışık 106 vakanın sonuçları. DisColonRectum 2002; 45: 1085.
- Johansson N, Rosemar A, AngeneteE.Semmoidvolvulusun tekrarlama riski: tek merkezli bir kohort çalışması. ColorectalDis 2018; 20: 529.

### Case Report Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

# A Rare Cause of Pediatric Acute Abdomen: Isolated Tubal Torsion

Mehmet H. Atalar<sup>1</sup>, Neslihan Köse<sup>2</sup>, Cengiz Güney<sup>3</sup>, Levent Cankorkmaz<sup>3</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Radiology, Cumhuriyet University, School of Medicine, Sivas, Turkey
- <sup>2</sup> Clinic of Radiology, Bozüyük State Hospital, Health Ministry, Bozüyük, Turkey
- <sup>3</sup> Department of Pediatric Surgery, Cumhuriyet University, School of Medicine, Sivas, Turkey

### Introduction

Isolated tubal torsion (ITT) is an extremely rare cause of acute abdomen frequently observed in women of reproductive age. Its diagnosis may become difficult due to its nonspecific clinical signs and symptoms including abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, and fever. Its prevalence ranges between 1:500.000 and 1:1.500.000. It was first described by Bland-Sutton in 1890. The first pediatric case in the literature was described by Hansen in 1922; since then, a total of seventy-seven pediatric ITT cases have been described until 2019. Radiological imaging methods provide information supportive of the diagnosis of ITT <sup>1-5</sup>. In this paper, we aimed to report the clinical features and ultrasonographic (US) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings of a pediatric patient with ITT that was radiologically diagnosed and confirmed by surgery.

### Case

A 10-year-old girl presented to emergency service with abdominal pain that had lasted for one week. She stated that the pain was cramp-like and particularly involved in the right lower quadrant. On abdominal examination, she had diffuse tenderness, rebound tenderness, and guarding at the lower abdomen, which was particularly prominent at the right lower quadrant. She had a stable general condition and was conscious, and she had no nausea, vomiting, loss of appetite, or fever. Her biochemical parameters, urinalysis, and coagulation parameters were within normal limits.

She underwent an abdominal US and MRI to detect the underlying pathology. On the transabdominal US, there was a regular contoured, thick-walled, cystic formation with a tubular appearance, internal echoes, and fluid-hemorrhage levels; it was located at the pelvic level at the right side and compressed the urinary bladder from its anterior aspect (Figure-1). Both ovaries were visualized clearly. A contrast-enhanced MRI was taken for lesion characterization and detection of coexisting findings. The MRI examination showed a dilated, thick-walled, tubular, cystic pelvic formation with contents suggestive of hydro-hematosalpinx. Additionally, there was the whirlpool sign representing vascular torsion at the right adnexal area (Figure-2 A, B, C). There was also fluid in Douglas pouch. Considered to have an adnexal torsion based on the available findings, the patient was taken to laparoscopic exploration, which showed that the uterus, both ovaries, and the left salpinx had a normal appearance but the ampullary region of the right salpinx was twisted around its axis. Based on the operative findings, the case was considered an ITT (Figure-2). The patient developed no complication during the postoperative period and was ultimately discharged with follow-up instructions. She had no residual sign or symptom at her follow-up appointment one month later.

### Discussion

Adnexal torsion is most commonly observed with salpinxes and ovaries twisting around the broad ligament. However, twisting of a salpinx alone around the mesosalpinx creating an adnexal torsion is an extremely rare event in childhood. Its etiology may include congenital anomalies of the salpinxes, a long mesosalpinx, hydrosalpinx, hematosalpinx, and tubal mass lesions. Although ITT constitutes a rare cause of lower abdominal pain among women of reproductive age, it may also be observed in premenarchal girls and postmenopausal women. More rarely, ITT may also complicate pregnancy. Although ITT has no specific symptoms, lower abdominal pain is a common finding. There may also be nausea, vomiting, and signs of peritoneal irritation and an adnexal mass. ITT is commonly seen at the right side as a result of partially restricted motion of the left salpinx due to its close anatomical relationship with the sigmoid colon<sup>2-5</sup>.

Three types of torsion patterns based on operative findings have been described in the literature <sup>6</sup>.



Figure -1. An ultrasonographic image depicts a thick-walled, dilated, cystic right fallopian tube (arrows).



**Figure -2.** (A) An axial T2-weighted MR image shows a dilated, thick-walled, tubular cystic formation that contains hemorrhagic content in its lumen and takes up contrast material (white arrow). Both ovaries appear normal (dashed white arrows). (B) A coronal T2-weighted MR image shows the whirlpool sign of the right fallopian tube (white arrow). (C) An axial post-contrast fat suppression T1-weighted MR image shows diffuse contrast uptake on the walls of the fallopian tube. (D) A photograph of the surgical specimen depicts a blackish-colored, edematous, ischemic, necrotic fallopian tube with torsion.

- Type 1, Long axis torsion with full-length dilation of the fallopian tube
- Type 2, Short axis torsion with full-length dilation of the fallopian tube,
- Type 3, long-axis torsion with distal dilation of a fallopian tube or a para-tubal cyst.

Based on the above classification, our patient had a type 3 pattern.

Although the US should be the first-line imaging modality by virtue of its rapid, readily available, and noninvasive nature, it, unfortunately, has a low specificity. Among the ultrasonographic signs of tubal torsion are tubal thickening, haemato-/hydrosalpinx, and an adnexal mass. Doppler US may prove useful in suspected cases. It may demonstrate a high impedance coupled with an absent or reversed diastolic vascular flow. However, one should also keep in mind that the presence of a normal flow pattern does not necessarily exclude the possibility of torsion. MRI is a useful technique with a better tissue contrast and the ability to detect the underlying disorder. MRI allows the detection and characterization of an underlying mass and its organ of origin. The whirlpool sign of adnexal torsion is characteristic for its diagnosis. The whirlpool sign was also confirmed by MRI in our case. Other cross-sectional imaging findings of ITT include dilated tubal structures wider than 15 mm, thickened and contrast-enhanced tubal wall, free pelvic fluid, thickened broad ligament, contamination of peri-tubal fat, and localized ileus <sup>4, 6, 7</sup>. As there are no specific radiological, clinical, and biochemical signs despite all of the above-mentioned signs, the preoperative diagnosis of ITT may be difficult. Thus, surgical exploration is considered the gold standard for its diagnosis and treatment. Early diagnosis of ITT is important. A study showed that a time window from the onset of pain to surgical exploration longer than 10 hours increased the risk of tubal necrosis in patients with adnexal torsion <sup>1, 5, 8, 9</sup>. Hence, we opted for surgical exploration since the time from the onset of our patient's symptoms to her hospital admission was one week. In ITT, the risk of interrupted blood supply to the ovaries is low since they receive blood supply from both the ovarian and uterine arteries.

The differential diagnosis of ITT should include acute appendicitis, ovarian cyst rupture or torsion, ectopic pregnancy, pelvic inflammatory disease, cystitis, endometriosis, leiomyoma degeneration, intestinal obstruction or perforation, diverticulitis, and renal colic <sup>3, 6, 7, 8, 10</sup>.

### Conclusion

In conclusion, despite rare, ITT should be considered among the causes of acute abdomen in women of reproductive age and adolescents. ITT's nonspecific signs and laboratory findings may easily lead to a wrong diagnosis. Radiological imaging should be carried out to evaluate any meaningful finding of tubal torsion in suspected cases. Making a correct diagnosis of ITT and implementing its treatment early in its course is of paramount importance for the preservation of the fertility potential of affected patients.

**Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study received no financial suppo

### References

- Gaied F, Emil S, Lo A, Baird R, Laberge JM. Laparoscopic treatment of isolated salpingeal torsion in children: case series and a 20-year review of the literature. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2012; 22: 941-7.
- Güney C, Coskun A. A Fifteen-Year Analysis of Rare Isolated Fallopian Tube Torsions in Adolescent Children: A Case Series. Diagnostics (Basel). 2019 Sep 4; 9(3). pii: E110. DOI: 10.3390/ diagnostics9030110.
- Schuh AM, Klein EJ, Allred RJ, Christensen A, Brown JC. Pediatric Adnexal Torsion: Not Just a Postmenarchal Problem. J Emerg Med. 2017; 52: 169-75.
- Webster KW, Scott SM, Huguelet PS. Clinical Predictors of Isolated Tubal Torsion: A Case Series. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2017; 30: 578-81.
- 5. Gunal YD, Bahadir GB, Boybeyı O, Cıl AP, Aslan MK. A rare cause of acute abdominal pain in children: Isolated tubal torsion; a case series. Turk J Emerg Med. 2016; 17: 73-6.
- Gross M1, Blumstein SL, Chow LC. Isolated fallopian tube torsion: a rare twist on a common theme. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2005; 185: 1590-2.
- Varras M, Tsikini A, Polyzos D, Samara Ch, Hadjopoulos G, Akrivis Ch. Uterine adnexal torsion: pathologic and grayscale ultrasonographic findings. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol 2004; 31: 34-8.
- Sakuragi M, Kido A, Himoto Y, Onishi Y, Togashi K. MRI findings of isolated tubal torsions: case series of 12 patients: MRI findings suggesting isolated tubal torsions, correlating with surgical findings. Clin Imaging. 2017; 41: 28-32.
- 9. Rafi J. Isolated tubal torsion in a fourteen-year-old girl. J Pak Med Assoc. 2011; 61: 603-4.
- 10. Mazouni C, Bretelle F, Menard JP, Blanc B, Gamerre M. Diagnosis of adnexal torsion and predictive factors of adnexal necrosis. Gynecol Obstet Fertil 2005; 33: 102-6.